
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mrs. J. Twomey (Tel. 0116 305 6462) 

Email: joanne.twomey@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. R. Blunt CC 

Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 

Mrs. P. Posnett CC 
 

Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
Mr. E. F. White CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 
2017.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Early Help Review.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 
 

(Pages 11 - 54) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

5.  
  

2018/19 and 2019/20 School Funding Formula.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 55 - 68) 

6.  
  

In - House Fostering Fees Review.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 69 - 76) 

7.  
  

Adult Social Care Transport Policy.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 77 - 100) 

8.  
  

Suicide Prevention - Strategy Work and Stop 
Suicide Campaign and Pledge.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 101 - 
142) 

9.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

10.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 12 
December 2017.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 

Mrs. P. Posnett CC 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 

 
Apologies 
 
Mr. E. F. White CC 
 
In attendance 
 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC, Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC and Mrs. C. M. Radford CC, Mr. D. 
Jennings CC, Mrs R. Page CC, Mr. S. J. Galton CC 
 
 

71. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

72. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
Subject to amendment to include Mrs Radford CC in the record of those in attendance, 
the minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2017 were taken as read, confirmed, 
and signed.   
 

73. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interests in respect 
of items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mrs P. Posnett CC and Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC each declared a personal interest in agenda 
item no. 5, concerning the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Proposals, as members of 
Melton Borough Council.   
 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC declared a personal interest in agenda item no. 6, regarding the Market 
Harborough Transport Strategy, as a member of Harborough District Council. 
 

74. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2021/22 - Proposals for Consultation.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources concerning the 
proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2018/19 to 2021/22 (MTFS).  A copy of the 
report, marked ‘4’, and a supplementary report with the detailed proposals (circulated 
separately) are filed with these minutes. 
  

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

Mr. Rhodes CC highlighted the pressures on the Adults and Communities and Children 
and Family Services Departments, which accounted for 81% of the Council’s total spend, 
and reminded members that an £18m shortfall in 2020/21 still needed to be addressed. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy, including the 2018/19 

revenue budget and capital programme, be approved for consultation and referred 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission for 
consideration; 

 
(b) That the Director of Finance, following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member 

for Resources, be authorised to -  
 

(i) Agree a response to the draft Local Government Finance Settlement; 
 
(ii) Decide on the appropriate course of action for the potential Leicester and 

Leicestershire 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot in 2018/19 and, subject 
to the acceptance of the submission made to the Government and the 
subsequent agreement by all member authorities, to implement this; 

 
(iii) Decide on the appropriate course of action for the Leicester and 

Leicestershire Business Rates Pool in 2018/19 and, subject to agreement 
by all member authorities, to implement this; 

 
(c) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet on 9th February 2018.  
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To enable the County Council to meet statutory requirements with respect to setting a 
budget and Council Tax precept for 2018/19 and to provide a basis for the planning of 
services over the next four years.  
 
To ensure that the County Council’s views on the Local Government Finance Settlement 
are made known to the Government.  
 
A submission was made to the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) for a 100% Business Rates Pilot in 2018/19 for the County Council, Leicester 
City Council, the Combined Fire Authority and all seven District Councils.  The decision of 
DCLG is expected alongside the Local Government Finance Settlement. 
 
Modelling of a Business Rates Pool with the pooling partners is being undertaken and, if 
the application for the pilot is unsuccessful, a decision on whether to proceed with the 
Pool will need to be taken 28 days after the release of the draft Local Government 
Finance Settlement. 
 

75. Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Proposals.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport  regarding 
progress with the development of an outer distributor road for Melton Mowbray including 
the outcome of public consultation on the proposed northern and eastern route.  A copy 

4



 
 

 

of the report, marked ‘5, is filed with these minutes as is a supplementary report 
(circulated separately) concerning a financing agreement with Melton Borough Council 
and the comments of the Environment and Transport Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Mr. Pain CC said that few local authorities were in a position to undertake significant road 
building.  Much work had been done to develop the scheme and prepare the Outline 
Business case to bid for Government funding which he hoped would enable construction 
of the road.  Mr. Rhodes CC noted that Melton Borough Council was fully behind the 
scheme. 
  
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the responses to the consultation and evidence from the further work 

undertaken to develop the Outline Business Case for the northern and eastern 
sections of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR) be noted; 

 
(b) That the Cabinet reaffirms its decision to prioritise and progress the development 

of the northern and eastern sections of the MMDR; 
 
(c) That the route for the northern and eastern sections of the MMDR, as illustrated on 

the plan at paragraph 75 to the report, be agreed for the purposes of further 
development and consultation subject to (e) and (f) below; 

 
(d) That the decision of Melton Borough Council’s Policy Finance and Administration 

Committee agreeing to proceed with the funding arrangements for the MMDR as 
set out in the Heads of Terms be noted; 

 
(e) That the basis for the agreement regarding the future funding of the northern and 

eastern MMDR as set out in the Heads of Terms be supported and that the 
Director of Finance in consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, 
following consultation with the Cabinet lead member for Resources, be authorised 
to record the agreement by an exchange of letters with Melton Borough Council; 

 
(f) That subject to an exchange of letters with Melton Borough Council before 22 

December 2017 further funding be committed by the County Council in order to -  
 

(i) Submit a planning application for the scheme in summer 2018 (including 
detailed design, environmental work, consultation, and preparation of 
statutory orders), 

 
(ii) Complete all further work necessary to prepare the scheme for construction 

by spring 2020 (noting this is subject to Department for Transport (DfT) 
funding and full completion of all necessary processes), 

 
(iii) Provide, in negotiation with the DfT, an appropriate local contribution, 

including underwriting forward-funding contributions to be provided by 
developers and/or third parties as necessary,  

 
 - noting that there could be additional scheme costs following submission of the 

outline business case and the Heads of Terms with Melton Borough Council will 
address how this will be financed; 

 

5



 
 

 

(g) That pursuant to the above, that the officers identified below be authorised, in 
consultation with the Director of Law and Governance and following consultation 
with the relevant Cabinet Lead Members, to 

 
(i) Continue discussions with landowners and stakeholders, with a view to 

reaching voluntary agreement over the purchase and/or reservation of land 
for the northern and eastern sections of the MMDR where possible - 
Director of Environment and Transport; 

 
(ii) Undertake to acquire by agreement necessary land (and) rights to facilitate 

delivery of the northern and eastern sections of the MMDR and make 
preparations in parallel for use of Compulsory Purchase Orders pursuant to 
the Highways Act 1980 and the Acquisition of Land Act 1981, taking all 
steps to include the preparation of Draft Order and Statement of Reasons - 
Director of Environment and Transport and Director of Corporate 
Resources;   

 
(iii) Undertake further engagement and consultation arising from any changes 

or improvements to the recommended route that may arise from detailed 
design work and feedback - Director of Environment and Transport; 

 
(iv) Agree the preferred route for planning and acquisition purposes - Director of 

Environment and Transport;   
 
(h) That subject to agreement with Melton Borough Council regarding future financing 

as set out above, the Chief Executive be authorised to approve and submit the 
Outline Business Case for the northern and eastern sections of the MMDR to the 
DfT as part of the bid for Large Local Majors Funding; 

 
(i) That it be noted that, assuming DfT funding for the MMDR is forthcoming, a further 

report will be submitted to the Cabinet regarding the detailed funding agreement 
between the County Council and Melton Borough Council; 

 
(j) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet prior to submission of a planning 

application to include, amongst other things - 
 

(i) Any alterations made to the recommended route as a result of detailed 
design work or further consultation; 

 
(ii) The detailed design and updated cost estimates for the scheme which will 

form the basis for the planning application; 
 
(iii) Requests for approval to make and implement any required Compulsory 

Purchase Orders and associated statutory orders. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The proposed route to the north and east of the town has been supported by the 
consultation responses and evidential work undertaken to date and it is considered to be 
the route that has the greatest chance of being awarded funding from the DfT Local 
Majors Fund. 

6



 
 

 

The Council is working to an extremely tight timescale set by the DfT in order to be able 
to apply for Large Local Majors Funding, and further detailed work and consultation 
needs to take place before the OBC is submitted (on or prior to 22 December 2017) and 
planning permission sought (spring/summer 2018). This may include, for instance, 
alterations to the route and additional expenditure.  It will not be feasible for reports to be 
submitted to the Cabinet to seek approval for this and the preparation of statutory orders, 
further engagement/consultation, and so on and it is therefore proposed that the relevant 
Chief Officers are authorised to progress such matters. The Cabinet, Environment and 
Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and local members will be kept informed of 
progress and any significant issues would be the subject of a formal report. 
 
The MMDR is included in the Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy, which is being 
developed jointly by the County and Melton Borough Councils and supports the planned 
growth in Melton Borough Council’s Local Plan.  Development of the northern and 
eastern MMDR will require financing from the County Council’s capital programme in 
advance of DfT funding being received and a funding agreement with MBC will mitigate 
the risk to the County Council. 
 
The Heads of Terms set out the basis for a financial agreement between the County 
Council and Melton Borough Council, and will need to be refined further to enable the 
OBC to be submitted to the DfT by 22 December 2017.  It is considered appropriate that 
the final detailed funding agreement should be submitted to the Cabinet for approval. 
 
The County Council must submit the OBC to the DfT by 22 December 2017 as part of its 
bid for Large Local Majors Funding, which is key to early provision of the MMDR.   
 

76. Market Harborough Transport Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport  
concerning the outcome of engagement and consultation on the Market Harborough 
Transport Study, and seeking approval of the Market Harborough Transport Strategy.  A 
copy of the report, marked ‘6’, is filed with these minutes.  
  
Members noted comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and from Dr. S. Hill CC, copies of which are filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Pain CC was pleased that the Strategy had received widespread support and 
commended it to the Cabinet. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the feedback from the engagement and consultation exercise on the Market 

Harborough Transport Study be noted;  
 
(b) That the revised recommendations of the Transport Study outlined in paragraphs 

31 to 40 of the report be approved;  
 
(c) That the Market Harborough Transport Strategy (Appendix D to the report) be 

approved;  
 
(d) That it be noted that as resources become available, the improvement schemes 

identified in the Market Harborough Transport Strategy will be developed further to 
ensure that advantage can be taken of any future funding opportunities.    

7



 
 

 

(KEY DECISION) 
 

REASON FOR DECISION: 
 

The Market Harborough Transport Strategy will help to support the planned future growth 
of the town, and place the County Council in a strong position to secure public and 
private funding for the transport improvements necessary to support growth.  
 

77. Progress with Implementation of the Working Age Adult Accommodation Strategy 2017-
2022 'A Place to Live - My Home'.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities concerning 
progress with the implementation of the Leicestershire Accommodation Strategy for 
Working Age Adults 2017-2022, and seeking approval to change the use of two sites to 
supported accommodation.  A copy of the report, marked ‘7’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Mr. Blunt CC said that providing the right accommodation and support was vital to help 
more people with long-term disabilities live independently.  The project was part of the 
wider agenda to improve health and care services, hence the capital funding from the 
NHS England Transforming Care Programme  
  
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That progress with the implementation of the Leicestershire Accommodation 

Strategy for Working Age Adults 2017-2022 be noted; 
 
(b) That the change of use to the supported accommodation sites at Deveron Way, 

Hinckley and Loughborough Road, Mountsorrel be approved, to enable their 
conversion/reconfiguration, as detailed in paragraph 20 of the report, following the 
receipt of capital funding from NHS England. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The Leicestershire Accommodation Strategy for Working Age Adults and the associated 
delivery plan provides the Council with agreed priorities in relation to supported 
accommodation for adults aged 18-64 over the next five years.  Although the County 
Council is not a housing authority, the Strategy has been developed to fulfil statutory 
duties relating to the Care Act, meet efficiency targets, and provide a basis for planning, 
partnership working and commissioning, in accordance with the overarching Adult Social 
Care Strategy to prevent, reduce, delay, and meet people’s need for services. 
 
In line with the aims of the Strategy, the change of use of the sites on Deveron Way, 
Hinckley and Loughborough Road, Mountsorrel will enable these properties to be 
converted/reconfigured so as to increase the accommodation options for individuals 
supported under a Transforming Care Plan.  Funding from NHS England has been 
secured for these works. 
 

78. Working Together to Build Great Communities - Leicestershire Communities Strategy 
2017-21.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning the outcome of 
engagement on the Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-2021 ‘Working Together 
to Build Great Communities in Leicestershire’ and seeking approval of the Strategy.  A 
copy of the report, marked ‘8’, is filed with these minutes.  

8



 
 

 

Mrs Posnett CC said that it had been necessary to refresh the Strategy in the context of 
reduced funding available but the Council would continue to work with local residents and 
partners such as parish and town councils to make things happen. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the outcome of the engagement on the Communities Strategy 2017-21 be 

noted; 
 
(b) That the Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21 be approved. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To enable implementation of the Communities Strategy, which supports the Council’s 
Strategic Plan.  
 

79. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) -  Review of Policy Statement.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance regarding the 
Council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 from 1 October 2016 to 
30 September 2017, and advising that the Council’s existing Policy Statement remained 
fit for purpose.  A copy of the report, marked ‘9’, is filed with these minutes.  
  
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the Council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 for the 

period from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017 be noted; 
 
(b) That it be agreed that the Council’s existing Policy Statement on the use of RIPA 

powers (appended to the report) continues to be fit for purpose; 
 
(c) That the Cabinet continues to receive annual reports from the Corporate 

Governance Committee on the use of RIPA powers and whether the Policy 
remains fit for purpose. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The Codes of Practice made under RIPA require elected members of a local authority to 
review the authority’s use of RIPA and set the policy at least once a year. 
 

80. Recommended Change to Treasury Management Policy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources recommending a 
change to the treasury management policy to enable investment in pooled private debt 
funds, increasing interest earned.  A copy of the report, marked ‘10’, is filed with these 
minutes.  
  
RESOLVED: 
 
That the addition of pooled private debt funds to the list of acceptable investment types 
within the Annual Investment Statement, with a maximum cash investment of £40m, be 
approved. 
 

9



 
 

 

REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The change to the treasury management policy will enable the Council to invest in private 
debt funds and thereby increase the interest earned relative to what could be earned by 
utilising cash deposits.  Whilst this type of investment has a higher risk profile than cash 
deposits, the additional risk is not overly significant.  Relative to the increase in risk, the 
additional income is considered to be highly attractive in an environment of low interest 
rates and significant pressure on the Council’s revenue budget. 
 

81. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
 

 
2.00 - 2.40 pm  CHAIRMAN 
12 December 2017 

 

10



 

CABINET – 9TH JANUARY 2018 
 

EARLY HELP REVIEW 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES  

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval to consult on 

proposed changes to the Early Help Service and the further investigation of 
options for redesigning the Service to support children and their families more 
holistically through a 0-19 years offer.  It is proposed that the new offer will 
incorporate a revised delivery model operating from 15 Family Wellbeing Centres 
across the County. 

  
Recommendations  
 
2. It is recommended: 
 

a) That consultation on a revised delivery model for the Early Help Service 
including reducing the number of service delivery buildings from 40 to 
15 be approved; 

 
b) That the Director be requested to undertake further work to:  

 
(i) develop the detail of the new delivery model and ascertain the 

potential effect of the proposed service changes on users; 
 
(ii) investigate alternative uses for the re-designation of 25 of the 40 

Early Help Service delivery buildings including 24 of the existing 
Children’s Centres; 

 
c) That a further report on the outcome of consultation and setting out 

final proposals for a new Early Help Service delivery model be 
submitted to the Cabinet in Summer 2018. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) requires a saving of £1.5m in 

2019/20 through a service review of Early Help. Part of the current Early Help 
offer, Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF), has received funding from the 
Department for Communities and Families and Local Government (DCLG) via the 

11 Agenda Item 4



Troubled Families Programme. This will cease after 2019/20, reducing SLF 
funding by £2.3m. Combining the four existing elements of Early Help in a 
redesigned service offer would enable the £3.8m saving to be made. 
 

4. It is a statutory requirement to consult on proposals in respect of the opening, 
change of use, or other major changes to the provision of Children’s Centres. The 
views of service users and stakeholders will inform the outcome of the review and 
how Early Help is best delivered in the future. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
5. It is intended to hold a 12-week public consultation exercise from January to April 

2018.  A report will be provided to the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee within this consultation period. 

 
6. A further report on the results of the consultation will be submitted to the Children 

and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet in the summer 
of 2018.  

 

7. If the decision is taken to apply the changes to the Service the new delivery 
model is expected to be operational in the spring of 2019. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. Sure Start Children’s Centres were a Government-led initiative introduced in 

2003 which committed to delivering 3,500 Children’s Centres across the country 
by 2010. 

 
9. As part of the County Council’s Transformation Programme approved by the 

Cabinet in May 2014, the County Council’s Early Help Services underwent a 
major review and remodelling to deliver £3.59m savings (28% of the Early Help 
budget) through the review of the Children’s Centre Programme and Youth 
Services. This removed the majority of universal services leading to a targeted 
Early Help offer with a focus on vulnerable families. The proposed changes set 
out in this report continue to be based on a targeted approach. 

 

10. SLF was restructured in 2015, delivering further savings of £800,000. The Youth 
Offending Service (YOS) was remodelled in 2014, delivering a further £500,000 
savings. 

 
11. Initial work on possible savings from the Children’s Centre Service was 

undertaken in 2016 following recommendations from consultants, People Too.  
This report was commissioned as part of the Early Help and Prevention (EHAP) 
Implementation review, and the strategy arising from this was approved by the 
Cabinet in June 2016.  

 
 
 
 
 

12



 
Resource Implications 

 
12. Failure to achieve the agreed £1.5m savings will affect the deliverability of the 

MTFS. Services must be reduced accordingly in order for the Children and 
Family Services budget to be balanced.   
 

13. The £3.8m savings represent 31% of the current Early Help budget of £12.4m per 
annum.  
 

14. Children’s Centre buildings were initially funded through capital grants awarded 
mainly by the Department for Education (DfE).  If use of the Centres is changed 
within 25 years of the award, the grant may be subject to clawback, but if 
buildings are re-designated to Early Years provision that risk will be mitigated. 
 

15. More detail on the current financial position and financial model is given in 
paragraphs 35 to 43 in Part B of this report.  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
16. As this is a matter which will affect most areas of the County, a copy of the report 

is being circulated to all members via the Members News in Brief Service. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Paul Meredith, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel. 0116 305 7441  
Email. paul.meredith@leics.gov.u 
 
Jane Moore, Assistant Director, Education and Early Help  
Tel. 0116 305 2649  
Email. jane.moore@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13

mailto:paul.meredith@leics.gov.u
mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
Financial Context 

 
17. The County Council has achieved significant savings over recent years but the 

Autumn Budget confirmed that austerity is to continue. This is likely to translate 
into further funding reductions for the County Council at a time of increasing 
demand on services arising from an ageing population and a large increase in 
school age children requiring services. Put simply this means that the Council’s 
income will not keep pace with demands, a position exacerbated by being one of 
the lowest funded Councils. The Children and Families Service budget is 
projecting an overspend in the current year reflecting an increase in demand for 
services. The current MTFS includes a saving of £1.5million in 2019/20 for a 
review of early help services. In addition, the DCLG has recently indicated that its 
funding for Supporting Leicestershire Families will cease in 2019/20, which 
together with the loss of partner funding will leave a financial gap of £2.3m. The 
proposals in the report should be seen in this context. 

   
18. Initial work on possible savings from the Children’s Centre Service was 

undertaken in 2016, as described above, as part of the Early Help and Prevention 
(EHAP) Implementation review. The report by People Too was commissioned as 
part of this work and the strategy arising from this was approved by the Cabinet 
in June 2016. The EHAP project was then expanded in May 2017 to take a more 
strategic approach and to extend the review across all four Early Help Services, 
namely:- 
 

 Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF)  

 Children’s Centres 

  Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

 Early Help Information, Support and Assessment (EHISA). 
 
 

Supporting Leicestershire Families  
 
19. The Family Intervention Project began in 2011 (as support for Families with 

Complex Needs). Following the announcement of the Government’s Troubled 
Families Programme in 2012, a pooled partnership budget was established to 
fund the supporting Leicestershire Families Programme. The Supporting 
Leicestershire Families pooled budget was made up of two elements: partnership 
contributions (two Clinical Commissioning Groups, seven District Councils, 
Leicestershire County Council, the Police and Public Health); and the Troubled 
Families Unit (TFU) attachment fees and Payment by Results (PBR) funding. The 
pooled budget is now supported by District Councils (total contribution £191k) 
and the Police and Crime Commissioner (total contribution £100K). The CCG 
funding was withdrawn fully in 2017/18 
 

20. In 2012 research used to develop the SLF programme identified 3300 families 
who would require support.  These families were identified on the basis that they 

14



had a number of vulnerability or risk factors that required intervention but did not 
meet the thresholds to receive support from Social Care. SLF identifies families 
through a cluster of six headline issues; to be eligible each family must have at 
least two of the following :-  

 
i. Parents or children involved in crime or anti-social behaviour 
ii. Children who have not been attending school regularly 
iii. Children who need help: children of all ages, who need help, are 

identified as in need or are subject to a Child Protection Plan.  
iv. Adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion and young people at 

risk of worklessness 
v. Families affected by domestic violence and abuse 
vi. Parents or children with a range of health problems. 

 

21. The SLF programme has led to new ways of intervening and supporting families 
through a whole-family approach (i.e. taking account of every member of the 
household), supported by a dedicated single worker who is able to give ‘hands 
on’ practical support and be persistent, assertive and challenging in their 
approach.  In 2016/17 SLF assisted 70% of families in the programme to make 
positive progress and reduced the need for further, more costly interventions.  
Proposals will therefore look to continue this highly successful whole-family 
approach.  As at April 2017 SLF is in the top 5% of Local Authorities for being 
able to evidence outcomes for families either with sustained and significant 
improvement or gaining employment.   
 

22. SLF services are delivered from 4 buildings across Leicestershire (as well as 
direct support to individuals in their homes) and in addition to these, SLF staff are 
co-located in district council buildings across the County.  This co-location has 
allowed for improved problem solving, better information sharing, and has 
supported all partners working with those families in the programme to respond in 
more innovative ways to those normally prescribed, for example, holding off on 
eviction, dealing with rent arrears.   
 

23. One element of the SLF work is the Listening Support Service (LSS), where 
Youth Workers engage with children and young people who have gone missing 
from home for a period. In 2016/17 the LSS held 456 return interviews, in 
collaboration with the multi-agency Child Sexual Exploitation Team (fulfilling the 
Ofsted requirement for the Council to do this within 72 hours of the young 
person’s return home). Young people who need extra support are then referred to 
the appropriate services or are supported by a Youth Worker or Intensive Family 
Support Worker.   
 

24. Data for 2016/17 shows that SLF had 4294 service users with 71% of those 
receiving the longer-term Intensive Family Support for approximately a year 
(3227 individuals), 17% receiving a youth work intervention (768 individuals), and 
12% receiving a shorter period of family work (544 individuals). 40% of the 
families supported by SLF have children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disability issues. 
 

25. SLF uses an assessment called the Family Star to measure outcomes. This 
focuses on ten areas such as emotional wellbeing, effective parenting, 

15



progressing to work, and ensuring the safety of their children. The SLF Annual 
Report for 2015/2016 shows that in nine out of the ten assessed criteria, over 
60% of families worked with have made positive progress. The programme 
accepts that not all issues can be eliminated, but rather require mitigation and 
better management so that families no longer need formal intervention. 
 

Children’s Centres  
 
26. Introduced in 2003 under the Government led ‘Sure Start’ initiative, the County 

Council delivers targeted support and care to young children aged 0-5 and their 
families, with a particular focus on closing the achievement gap for children from 
disadvantaged backgrounds. This support is undertaken via 36 Children’s 
Centres across Leicestershire and complementary outreach services. 
 

27. Children’s Centre locality programmes are developed in line with the needs of the 
local community so no one programme is the same.  In Leicestershire, services 
are delivered by:  
 

i. casework for families referred for one-to-one support in the home – this 
can be to support families with routines or behaviour, or to improve 
parenting;  

ii. through an extensive range of group work;  
iii. the 0-2yrs Pathway - intensive support for parents-to-be with additional 

support needs, right from the beginning of their parental journey (the 
antenatal stage) and through the first two years of the child’s life.  
 

There is also a variety of advice and signposting available through outreach 
support, plus an open group offer delivered by parents and volunteers.  
 

28. The Children’s Centre programme in Leicestershire has been successful, 
achieving 7 ‘Good’ Ofsted judgements through its targeted offer, clear outcomes, 
and a successful 0-2yrs Pathway.    
 

29. Partner organisations also deliver services from the Children’s Centre buildings. 
Health visiting and midwifery services in particular are delivered in partnership 
with Children’s Centre Services as part of the statutory ‘Sure Start’ offer.  
 

30. In 2016/2017, 714 families were provided with intensive support.  The two main 
issues that triggered parenting support related to domestic abuse or mental 
health within the family, 1326 children were supported on the 0-2yrs Pathway – 
relating to some of the most vulnerable very young children living in 
Leicestershire. This year (Q2 year to date), 224 of those children have had 
developmental tracking through the Pathway and of those, 88.6% are meeting or 
exceeding their developmental milestones.  Last year 714 children received 
targeted one-to-one support from Family Outreach Workers and 86% of those 
children and families made positive progress (captured in Family Star 
assessments). In 2016/17 a total of 360 families attended parenting groups and 
overall 98% of parents reported a positive difference in their family’s lives 
following intervention and support from the Children’s Centre programme.  
 

16



Youth Offending Service  
 
31. The YOS current delivery model is focused on undertaking statuary work, 

managing pre-court outcomes (Youth Caution and Youth Conditional Caution) as 
well as post-court outcomes (Referral Orders, Youth Rehabilitation Orders and 
Detention and Training Orders and Section 90/91 custodial sentences).  In 
addition, the YOS preventative offer, whilst not having a statutory requirement, 
supports the YOS Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) on reducing First Time 
Entrants to the criminal justice system (FTE). The SLF has provided important 
support in reducing FTE through early intervention work with families and has 
enabled the YOS to provide a much more focused prevention offer in recent 
years. 
 

32. The new Early Help model will seek to amalgamate the YOS preventative offer 
and retain a clearly focused delivery of YOS statutory work, thereby minimising 
the risk to the performance of the YOS in the future.  

 
33. The YOS is viewed nationally as a high performing service and has been in that 

position for many years. The number of first time entrants into the criminal justice 
system has decreased by 13% over the last year. Reoffending by young people 
has reduced by 3% over the last year and the number of young people in custody 
has reduced by 0.05 per 1000 of the 10-17 population.   

 
Early Help Information, Support and Assessment  

 
34. EHISA works with First Response Children’s Duty to process incoming referrals 

or requests for support. The service processes on average 400 Early Help 
referrals per month, matching needs to services which may include onward 
referral to non-County Council services. Since 2013 early help and social care 
have been providing seamless transition across the statutory threshold to ensure 
those families not needing formal social care involvement are given the support 
required to enable them to keep their families safe and thriving.   
 

35. The service also provides brief intervention in parenting and behaviour 
management, and short-term evidence-based intervention through the national 
IAPT (Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies) programme for children and 
young people with low-level mental health difficulties. The SEND team within 
EHISA provide family support services, information and guidance assessment for 
early help short breaks, education advice services for SEND families, and 
activities such as supporting the Parent Carer Forum (a forum which is a parent-
led formally constituted organisation and which supports co-production activities 
between the authority and communication with parents and carers etc. as 
required by the 2014 Children and Families Act).  
 

36. In addition, the service undertakes some service wide activities such as 
coordination of Voice Work which is one of various quality assurance activities in 
the Department and provides a platform for ensuring services meet the 
expressed needs of those who use them. 

 
 
 

17



 
 
Current Financial Position 
 
37. The 2017/18 budget for Children and Family Early Help services is £12.4m, 

consisting of: 
 

 Budget Contributor Value % of total 
budget 

Leicestershire County 
Council 

Ongoing budget £9.1m 
76% 17/18 one off 

contribution to SLF 
£0.3m* 

Government grant aid 
funding 
 
 

DCLG £0.9m* 

12% 
Other grants £0.6m 

Partnership contributions 
(Districts and Boroughs, 
Police)  

SLF £0.5m*   

6% Youth Offending 
Service 

£0.3m 

County Council Children 
and Family Services 
reserves 
 

SLF  £0.6m*   

6% 
Youth Offending 
Service 

£0.1m 

TOTAL BUDGET £12.4m 100% 

*Temporary SLF funding contributions = £2.3m 

38. The Early Help costs identified above are operational delivery costs only. 
Business support costs have been removed from the above and are currently 
being reviewed separately as part of a wider departmental Business Support 
Review.  
 

39. The Government has indicated that the DCLG Troubled Families Funding will not 
continue beyond 2020 which also puts partner funding for the programme at risk.  
Children and Family Services SLF reserves will also be fully utilised by that date; 
therefore it is assumed that the £2.3m external contributions will cease from 
2019/20, significantly reducing the Council’s Children’s Early Help offer further. 
 

Financial Model 
 
40. In taking a strategic approach to the delivery of the current MTFS savings across 

the Early Help Service, the savings proposed now combine the following two 
savings lines within the 2017/18 – 2020/21 MTFS:- 

  
a. CF4 - Review of Children’s Centres (£1m); and  
b. CF12 - Review of Early Help Services (£500k). 
 

41. As part of this review the Service has modelled the impact of the current MTFS 
savings requirement alongside the reduction in SLF funding. 

 

18



42. MTFS savings of £1.5m can be achieved through combining the four services 
into an integrated offer for 0-19 year-olds, reducing management costs and 
reducing the number of buildings from which the Council delivers services.  
Duplication across the four services would be significantly reduced, including 
minimising management costs and rationalising running costs by reducing the 
number of buildings from 40 to 15. This will have a minimal impact on frontline 
workers with an estimated reduction of 4% or approximately 8 FTE posts.   

43. The further budget reduction linked to the loss of £2.3m SLF funding will 
unfortunately need to be found by reducing the number of frontline staff.  It is 
considered that in order to achieve the £2.3m saving there will need to be a 
reduction in frontline staff of 29% - from 197 to 140 (in addition to the 4% above). 

 
44. The savings model below is based on the £3.8m savings proposal:-  
 

 Budget reduction total = 31% 
 

Savings overview - current budget £12.4m 
 

 Staffing Running Costs Total 

MTFS Saving £m £0.8 £0.7 £1.5 

SLF income/reserve  £m £2.3 £0 £2.3 

Total Saving £m £3.1 £0.7 £3.8 

45. The modelling indicates that the reduction in frontline staff will equate to 290 
fewer families receiving support at any one time. The implications of the changes 
for service delivery and associated risks are detailed in paragraphs xx to xx 
below.  

 

Options Scoping 
 

46. The aim of the options scoping exercise was to consider how the four Early Help 
service areas could be aligned to deliver a more strategic offer which was more 
cost-effective and would continue to target support to the most vulnerable 
families, thereby reducing the pressure on Social Care services. Several target 
operating models have been considered which demonstrated differing levels of 
integration:-  
 
1) A proportional reduction of services across each service area - less 

integration with the four services operating separately on a lesser scale; it is 
considered that this would be the least efficient way of delivery with a higher 
potential for duplication across services. 
 

2) Part integration – this would include some separation of services to continue 
operating largely as they do at present with integration of other services. 
Whilst this was felt to be a good option to preserve the operating procedures 
and good practice in some areas it would not allow for fully holistic processes 
and whole-family working. 
 

3) Full integration –with all four services integrated and delivered under one 
operating model. This is the preferred option, as it would allow whole-family 

19



working and integrated delivery on a more strategic basis with the least 
possible duplication across the service.  The service user would gain 
appropriate support as would their family network around them providing a 
more holistic ‘Family Wellbeing Service’. 
 

47. It was clear that to achieve the £3.8m savings, changes to the building and 
staffing numbers associated with the service were needed.  Building running 
costs are a far lower proportion of the overall budget than staffing, the total 
building running costs for 40 centres making up approximately 6% of the current 
total Early Help budget. However, removing buildings and associated running 
costs in turn reduces the number of frontline staff that will need to be removed. 

 
Proposed New Model 
 
48. The current Early Help model delivers targeted services as follows:- 

 

 four separate services, each with its own management structure.  

 three services (Children’s Centres, YOS, and SLF) on a locality basis, but 
across different geographical areas throughout the County.  

 provision from 40 different buildings; 36 Children’s Centres and 4 SLF Family 
Centres (old Youth Centres). 
 

49. The new proposed model would integrate the four existing areas together into a 
single 0-19 Family Wellbeing Service, providing a core age-related offer targeted 
at vulnerable children and their families, via whole-family working. 
 

50. The new offer would continue to be run on a targeted basis. Moreover, a number 
of families (estimated to be around 290) who are currently receiving support 
would no longer qualify or would be referred to a waiting list. 
 

51. The new model would be delivered across two operational locality areas in the 
County. The details are to be confirmed, but it would be based on demand for 
services, deprivation, anticipated caseloads, and alignment with key partners 
such as health services. These two areas would be used for internal operational 
purposes and would not affect service users. 
 

52. The 0-19 Family Wellbeing Service would deliver a core and targeted offer from 
locality based teams operating from the 15 service buildings, but also 
incorporating flexible delivery in people’s homes and from Community Centres 
etc. The locations of the proposed hubs are detailed in paragraphs 57 and 58.  
Families will be assessed to identify need and multi-skilled Early Help Workers 
will deliver group and one-to-one intervention proportionate to need. 
 

53. The focus of this new service will be on support to the most vulnerable families 
with the aim of helping families to function effectively, ensuring that children are 
safe, and preventing escalation to statutory services which are already under 
significant pressure from rising demand.  

 
 
 

20



 
 
 
Proposed ‘Family Wellbeing Service’ model 

 
 

54. The proposed model will deliver a whole family service aimed at supporting 
families with significant needs and their family networks around them. Learning 
from four years of operating the SLF model has highlighted the benefits of 
supporting families holistically with their problems. 
 

55. Families will be triaged and an assessment undertaken which will include 
analysis of family history, likely trajectory and then direct families to the most 
appropriate level of support, matching needs to services. This may include 
referral to external partners, the Family Wellbeing Service, other County Council 
services, provision of information and advice, coordination of multi-agency 
responses, this all being dependent on the identified needs.  
 

56. Support would be offered through:- 
 

 Group Work (user pathways) 

 Individual support (1 worker per family) 

 Drop-in clinics. 
 

57. Criteria for receipt of Early Help services will need to be refined further to target 
only the most vulnerable families where issues are most likely to lead to poor 
outcomes for children if intervention is not put in place in a timely way. Critical 
scoping work highlights the key areas requiring support including domestic 
violence and mental health.     
 

 

21



 
 
Proposed Service Delivery Locations 
 
58. It is proposed that the new Family Wellbeing Service will be delivered by locality 

based teams through a ‘hub and spoke’ model, with 5 key public-facing Family 
Hub Buildings which will be located strategically across Leicestershire. These will 
be supported by 10 ‘spoke’ buildings for service delivery. The remaining 25 
buildings would be re-designated into alternative uses.  Further work to verify the 
proposed locations is planned for the next phase of the project, for which 
permission is being sought. The preferred scenario is that current service 
buildings – Children’s Centres and SLF centres – will be rebranded to deliver the 
new service offer. 
 

59. Five Family ‘Hub’ buildings are proposed at the following locations, with preferred 
buildings for further consultation in brackets:- 
 

o Loughborough: - (Preferred - Mountfields SLF Centre – Loughborough) 
o Hinckley: -  (Preferred - Hinckley East Children’s/Contact Centre) 
o Wigston:- (Preferred - Wigston Magna Children’s Centre) 
o Melton:-  (Preferred - Venture House SLF Centre) 
o Coalville:- (Preferred - Greenhills SLF centre) 

 

Hub buildings will be key delivery points; it is proposed that they will have 
delivery space for group work and clinic sessions and will be locality team bases 
for staff. 
 

60. Ten supporting Family ‘spoke’ buildings are proposed at the following locations, 
with preferred buildings for further consultation in brackets:- 
 

o Earl Shilton:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Shepshed:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Thurmaston:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Lutterworth:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Market Harborough:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Huncote:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Castle Donnington:- (Preferred - Northern Parishes Children’s Centre) 
o Measham:- (Preferred - Children’s Centre) 
o Loughborough:- (Preferred - Loughborough Children’s/Contact Centre) 
o Coalville:- (Preferred - Coalville Children’s/Contact Centre) 

 
61. Spoke buildings are proposed to support the hubs and enable efficient and 

effective delivery to the most vulnerable families, and are linked to Social Care 
services in at least three locations where services are co-located (Children’s/ 
Contact centre).  Current thinking is that they will provide a range of family 
services, some of which could be more targeted and specific to local needs. It is 
proposed that they will also have areas adapted to deliver group work and space 
for individual support. 
 

22



62. Appendix A shows the proposed location of the preferred Family Hub and Spoke 
buildings on a map.  
 

63. The 25 proposed buildings which will no longer be used by the service will, if 
possible, be re-designated. Landlords and schools will be consulted to consider 
the best possible uses for the buildings and a plan will be drawn up.  It is 
proposed that where possible Children’s Centre Buildings will be used to support 
Early Years functions for example nursery care and  Free Early Education 
Entitlement (FEEE) for two and three year olds. This will mitigate the risk of 
potential clawback for capital costs by the DfE. Where this is not possible, future 
users may include schools or local community groups.  
 

64. In addition to the locality-based teams it is proposed that there will be a centrally 
based unit at County Hall which will continue to work closely with First Response 
Children’s Duty to manage the ‘front door’ to services.  This approach supports 
social care services to offer an alternative to statutory intervention where 
safeguarding thresholds are not met, and helps to build the single view of the 
child which is so important in keeping children safe.  This team will also support 
the infrastructure of the locality services, for example through the provision of 
quality assurance activity, practice development, policy and process. 
 

Key Risks 
 
65. Risk of future increased spending in social care: 

 

 A recent report by the Local Government Association (LGA) highlighted an 
anticipated national funding gap of £2 billion emerging by 2020 in relation 
to expenditure on children’s services.  Research by the LGA highlighted 
that spending nationally on Early Intervention services had fallen by 40% 
since 2011, and that this has been a significant contribution to the increase 
in pressure on Local Authority statutory Children’s Social Care services. 
Over the same 5-year period the LGA reported a 7% increase in local 
authority spending on Children’s Social Care services. The County Council 
has reduced spending on Early Help Services by £4.4m (26%) over the 
last 3 years.  Further reductions could therefore have a highly detrimental 
impact on social care spending in future years. 
 

 One of the benefits linked to strong early help services is that support 
workers engage with vulnerable families as their problems emerge or 
before they begin to escalate to the point of needing formal intervention.   
Families frequently recognise the need to change and welcome early 
support.  There has been a 61% reduction in step-ups from SLF to social 
care in the four years since the SLF programme commenced, and if 
thresholds are raised  a significant proportion of families may require 
statutory social care intervention, having had no or little previous 
involvement from early help. Moreover, families are often reluctant to seek 
help at a later stage; their problems are more entrenched, and it becomes 
more difficult to reach positive outcomes for the family.  National research 
indicates that late intervention services through social care prove more 
costly than early intervention services when dealing with individual 
families.  

23



 

 There may well be increased numbers requiring support from Children’s 
Social Care and this also poses a significant future risk of increasing 
financial pressures on the County Council. 
 

Mitigation of risk - There would continue to be a robust initial assessment 
process to identify the most vulnerable families and ensure that they are 
prioritised for support, but it will be necessary to raise the threshold for 
support.  
 

66. Risk of significant reduction in services for vulnerable families 
 

 The SLF and Children’s Centre services currently support 882 families (as 
at Quarter 1 of 2017/18).  A 33% reduction in frontline staff could reduce 
the number of families supported by approximately 290 families at any one 
time. This may result in families receiving no service, increased waiting 
times, referral to other partner agencies, or increased workload for staff in 
Children's Social Care. 
 

Mitigation of risk – The reduction in funding will clearly result in a reduction of 
services available to vulnerable families.  As described above the threshold 
for eligibility to receive services will increase. This risk will need to be 
tolerated and managed through monitoring of these families and seeking 
alternative support from partner agencies or community groups where 
appropriate. 
 

67. Risks around having fewer buildings: 
 

 Having fewer buildings will mean that service users in many localities will 
have to travel further to access Early Help and there is a risk that this will 
be a significant barrier to many. It may also result in higher transport costs 
to the service of getting many users to their nearest centre.  
 

  A number of partner agencies share space in Children’s Centres and this 
may affect their ability to deliver services locally within communities. 

 

 There is a risk around the potential DfE capital clawback as the Children’s 
Centre buildings were developed largely through capital grants. This grant 
money could be subject to clawback if the asset created is removed from 
0-5 use within 25 years. DfE guidance indicates that to avoid clawback, 
any centres that are re-designated into other uses must be utilised for 60% 
of their time to support children under the age of 5, and efforts will be 
made to consider transfers to other bodies to achieve this.  The maximum 
possible cost to the Authority, if  all 21 Children’s Centres identified for re-
designation were subject to clawback, would be in the region of 
£5,800,000, but as explained earlier and below that is not expected and 
can be significantly mitigated.   
 

 Mitigation of risk – if building numbers are reduced this risk will need to be 
tolerated. Alternative uses for buildings not being used in the future will be 

24



explored, prioritising future uses and working with children and young 
people in other venues. Future arrangements with partners where possible 
will also assist with the use of potential alternative venues and support to 
families who need access to local services. 

 
Consultation 

 
68. This report seeks approval for the Director of Children and Family Services to 

conduct a formal consultation process on the new service model and delivery 
buildings. A prime target audience for this consultation will be the current service 
users and their wider families/carers. 
 

69. A further prime target audience will be service providers, including: 
  

 Schools and Colleges 

 Police 

 District Councils and adjoining local authorities 

 Early Years providers 

 NHS / Health service providers  

 Organisations co-delivering services from County Council venues 

 Landlords of County Council venues 
 
70. Other stakeholders directly or indirectly affected include: 

 

 Parish Councils 

 Internal services, i.e. Adults & Communities, Environment & Transport, 
Public Health 

 Transport and creche providers 

 Voluntary services, such as Homestart who deliver their services from 
Children’s Centres. 

 
71. As part of the consultation, a report setting out the proposals will be presented to 

the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its comments 
will be reported back to the Cabinet.  

 
72. It is expected that the public consultation process will last 12 weeks and be 

carried out between January and April of 2018 through a range of media 
including on-line and direct contact with service users. 

 
73. Following the consultation process results will be carefully analysed and a final 

Full Business Case will be produced to take account of any comments. It is 
planned that this final version will be submitted to the Cabinet in the summer of 
2018. 

 
Conclusion 
 
74. This report outlines the requirement to make savings of £1.5m in order to deliver 

the Council’s MTFS and further savings of £2.3m as a result of the reduction of 
£2.3m SLF funding. This equates to a total annual budget reduction of £3.8m 
(31%) from Early Help Services. 

25



 
75. The £1.5m can be achieved through efficiency savings and a reduction in running 

costs (mainly from buildings) and will not significantly impact front line workers 
(4% reduction). 

 
76. The additional £2.3m funding reduction will directly impact front line workers and 

modelling estimates this to be a 29% reduction in front line staff (in addition to the 
above 4%). This will reduce the number of families who will receive support by 
approximately 290 out of the 882 vulnerable families that Early Help Services 
currently support at any one time. 

 
77. The key risk created by this reduction in budget is around the potential impact on 

Social Care Services which could arise from less vulnerable families being 
supported through Early Help Services resulting in their step up to Social Care. It 
should however be noted that the County Council will continue to spend nearly 
£9m on Early Help Services 

 
78. In order to operate the service under this budget reduction the following 

recommendations are made:-  
 

a) That a public consultation is undertaken on a revised delivery model for 
the Early Help Service including reducing the number of service 
delivery buildings from 40 to 15 

 
b) That the Director be requested to undertake further work to:  

 
(i) develop the detail of the new delivery model  
 
(ii) investigate alternative uses for the re-designation of 25 of the 40 

Early Help Service delivery buildings  
 

c) That a further report on the outcome of consultation and setting out 
final proposals for a new Early Help Service delivery model be 
submitted to the Cabinet in Summer 2018. 

 
Background Papers 

 
Sure Start Statutory Guidance 2013 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/27376
8/childrens_centre_stat_guidance_april_2013.pdf 
 
Report to the Cabinet, County Council Strategic Plan and Transformation 
Programme – 6 May 2014 (Minute 142 refers) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3990&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet, Early Help and Prevention Review – 17 June 2016 (Minute 
438 refers) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4 
 
 
 

26

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273768/childrens_centre_stat_guidance_april_2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273768/childrens_centre_stat_guidance_april_2013.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3990&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4


Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Map of Early Help Buildings 
Appendix B – EHRIA screening document 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
79. A copy of the EHRIA screening document (work to date) can be found in 

Appendix B. The proposed changes will result in a more targeted service focused 
on those assessed as being in the greatest need. Consequently a number of 
existing service users will have reduced or no access to services.   
 

80. A full Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will be 
undertaken following the public consultation to fully assess the impact of the 
proposed changes to the service. Legal and equality and diversity advice will be 
sought as and when necessary throughout this process.  

 
Environmental Implications 

 
81. The project may have environmental implications linked to the proposed service 

change in terms of the increased travel requirements where centre numbers are 
reduced. However this will be offset where centres are redesignated as building 
running costs such as energy use will be reduced overall by the service area.  
 

 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council 07/12/2017 

©Crown copyright and database rights 2017. Ordnance Survey LA100019271.  

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. 

New Family Wellbeing Service - Proposed Service buildings (15) 

Appendix 1 

Early Help Service -  Existing Service Buildings (40) 

ID Name

1 Cobden

2 Shelthorpe

3 Warren Hills

4 Huncote

5 Wigston Magna

6 Loughborough West

7 Mountsorrel

8 Shepshed

9 Thurmaston

10 Market Harborough

11 Barwell

12 Desford

13 Earl Shilton

14 Hinckley East

15 Hinckley Westfield

16 Hinckley West

17 The Cove

18 The Edge

19 Ashby de le Zouch

20 Coalville

21 Ibstock

22 Measham

23 Moira

24 Northern Parishes (Castle Donnington)

25 Thringstone

26 Braunstone Town

27 Countesthorpe

28 South Wigston

29 Anstey

30 Broughton Astley

31 Fleckney

32 Lutterworth

33 Bushby

34 Bagworth

35 Vale of Belvoir

36 Fairmead

37 Market Harborough Young People’s Centre

38 Venture House Youth Centre

39 Greenhill Youth Centre

40 Mountfields Lodge Youth Centre

Hubs l

Spokes l

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
 

This Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will enable you to 
assess the new, proposed or significantly changed policy/ practice/ procedure/ 
function/ service** for equality and human rights implications.  
 
Undertaking this assessment will help you to identify whether or not this policy/ 
practice/ procedure/ function/ service** may have an adverse impact on a particular 
community or group of people. It will ultimately ensure that as an Authority we do not 
discriminate and we are able to promote equality, diversity and human rights.  
 
Before completing this form please refer to the EHRIA guidance, for further 
information about undertaking and completing the assessment. For further advice 
and guidance, please contact your Departmental Equalities Group or 
equality@leics.gov.uk  
 
**Please note: The term ‘policy’ will be used throughout this assessment as 
shorthand for policy, practice, procedure, function or service. 

 

 

Key Details 
 

Name of policy being assessed: 
 
 
 

Early Help Review 

Department and section: 
 
 
 

Children & Family Service 

Name of lead officer/ job title and 
others completing this assessment: 

 
 

Jenny Allen, Project Manager 
Rebecca Marriott, Business Analyst 

Contact telephone numbers: 
 
 
 

0116 305 7931 

Name of officer/s responsible for 
implementing this policy: 

 
 

Jane Moore, Assistant Director Education & 
Early Help 
Chris Thomas, Head of Service - Early Help 
 

Date EHRIA assessment started: 
 
 
 

November 2017 

Date EHRIA assessment completed: 
 

 

 

 

Appendix B 31

http://intranet/us_and_partners/equality_and_diversity/equality_and_diversity_groups_and_meetings.htm
mailto:equality@leics.gov.uk


 

2 
 

Section 1: Defining the policy 
 

 
Section 1: Defining the policy  
You should begin this assessment by defining and outlining the scope of this policy. 
You should consider the impact or likely impact of the policy in relation to all areas of 
equality, diversity and human rights, as outlined in Leicestershire County Council’s 
Equality Strategy. 
 

 

1 What is new or changed in this policy? What has changed and why? 
 
The Early Help Review proposes to re-design LCC’s Children & Families Early Help 
offer in order to provide a more integrated service to children, young people and 
families. If progressed, this will mean changes to both how we deliver our services 
and where we deliver them from. 
 
The Early Help budget is required to make savings of £1.5m and, in addition to this, 
the existing Supporting Leicestershire Families Service is facing a reduction of £2.3m 
funding - an overall reduction to the Early Help budget of £3.8m (31%). 
 
This means that our capacity to deliver Early Help services will be significantly 
reduced and we have to think differently as to how we can continue to meet our 
statutory responsibilities and make the best use of our resources, in order to ensure 
that we are delivering the right services to the right people. 
 
Early Help is currently delivered by 4 separate services - Supporting Leicestershire 
Families (SLF), Youth Offending Service (YOS), Children’s Centres (CC’s) and the 
Early Help Information, Assessment and Support Service (EHIAS). Each of these 
services targets a different group; YOS targets young people aged 10-17 who have 
offended or who are at risk of offending, Supporting Leicestershire Families targets 
families with a number of vulnerability or risk factors and incorporates a youth 
element supporting young people aged 11-19, and the Children’s Centre Service 
targets expectant parents and families with 0-5 year olds. 
 
The Early Help Review proposes to embed a whole family approach across Early 
Help and integrate the four existing services into a targeted 0-19 Family Wellbeing 
Service, which will focus on supporting the most vulnerable families in Leicestershire. 
This will enable the required savings to be made through a combination of service 
and management efficiencies, a reduction in the number of buildings and a reduction 
in frontline staff.  

Other target operating models that were considered included a proportional budget 
reduction from each of the four Early Help services, and part-integrating services to 
reduce duplication within existing operating procedures.  

The proposed 0-19 Family Wellbeing Service is intended to be delivered through drop 
in clinics, group work and/or casework (using a one worker per family principle). It is 
intended that the service will work with internal and external partners in order to better 
co-ordinate services and ensure that they are joined up as far as possible for service 
users. The detail of this is yet to be developed and will be shaped by further analysis 
and the outcomes of consultation. 
 
The service is intended to be fully flexible in its delivery, providing services through 
outreach support, in family homes and community settings, and through advice and 

32



 

3 
 

signposting as well as through Family Wellbeing Centres. 
 
It is proposed that the service will work across two geographical localities (which are 
yet to be determined). This is mainly for operational purposes, to align the different 
areas that the existing four services work to. The boundary is yet to be defined and 
will be developed   following further analysis and modelling. It is not anticipated that 
service users will be impacted by this change.  
 
There are currently 40 fixed buildings from which service users can access Early Help 
Services – 36 Children’s Centres and 4 SLF Centres.  
 
It is proposed that the new integrated service would be delivered from 15 Family 
Wellbeing Centres; a reduction of 25 buildings. The proposed locations of these 
buildings will be based on a number of criteria including their location, accessibility 
suitability for future use, current usage and geographical distribution across the 
county. 
 
The focus of the centres would expand to support children and young people across 
the full 0-19 age range and their families. It is intended that 5 of the Family Wellbeing 
Centres would function as ‘hub’ sites where staff would be located, and from which a 
wide range of services including group work and clinics would be delivered. A further 
10 Family Wellbeing Centres would function as spoke sites to support the hubs and 
provide facilities to deliver a range of services for families, some of which would be 
targeted to meet specific local needs. 
 
Further work will be undertaken with partners to investigate alternative uses for the 25 
existing Children’s Centres and SLF Centres that are no longer proposed to be used 
as delivery buildings in the new model. A number of these buildings are currently 
leased and licensed under various arrangements. Where possible, discussions will 
take place with partners and landlords to ensure that services continue to be provided 
for children through provision of nursery care and Free Early Education Entitlement 
(FEEE) for 2 and 3 year olds (e.g. private nursery providers). 

 

2 Does this relate to any other policy within your department, the Council or with 

other partner organisations? If yes, please reference the relevant policy or EHRIA. 

If unknown, further investigation may be required. 

This change is driven by the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
which was approved by the County Council on the 22 February 2017 to make £1.5M 
savings from Early Help Services. Coupled with the reduction of Government funding 
in relation to the Troubled Families DCLG grant this brings the total budget reduction 
to £3.8M (31%) for the Early Help Service. 
 
The four Early Help Services work with a wide range of internal and external partners 
to deliver the existing Early Help offer, and these partners will continue to be 
important to the delivery of the proposed Family Wellbeing Service. 
 
A number of partner organisations including Health and district and borough councils 
also operate services from, or share space within, existing Early Help delivery 
buildings. 
 
Initial stakeholder analysis work and engagement with partners has begun through 
early communication and a briefing event on 5th December. Further consultation with 
partner organisations will be undertaken throughout the consultation period, as 
appropriate, to help shape the new service offer. 
 

33



 

4 
 

It is a statutory requirement for a Local Authority to undertake formal statutory 
consultation wherever there are proposals in respect of the opening, change of use or 
other major changes to the provision of Children’s Centres. The views of service 
users and stakeholders are necessary to inform the outcome of the review and how 
the current service model can best be delivered as a result of the required budget 
reduction. More detail on the proposed consultation is included at Section 2 part 8 
below. 
 

3 Who are the people/ groups (target groups) affected and what is the intended 
change or outcome for them?  
 
Service Users 
The four existing Early Help services work with children and young people aged 0-19 
and their families who need support in Leicestershire. It is intended that the Family 
Wellbeing Service will continue to deliver to this group, but will become more 
targeted. Service users may find that they have to access services in a different way 
and/or from a different place, as the overall capacity of the service reduces to make 
the required savings. It is intended that integrating the four services and taking a 
whole family approach, rather than working separately with individuals within the 
family, will make the service more focussed and help to mitigate the impact of this as 
far as possible. As the new service model evolves following initial consultation we will 
undertake more research into which service users are affected by any proposed 
change and what impacts this will have on users who may have a protected 
characteristic. 
 
A range of services targeted specifically at families with children under the age of 5 is 
currently delivered from Children’s Centres; many of these are led by partner 
organisations or volunteers. Families who currently access services at the 25 
Children’s Centres and SLF Centres for which alternative uses are being sought 
would potentially feel the biggest impact as they may need to travel to a different 
venue within the community or county in future, and in some cases may find that the 
services they access are delivered in a different way.  
 
The proposed locations of Family and Wellbeing Centres are based on a number of 
criteria including their location, accessibility, suitability for future use, current usage 
and geographical distribution across the county, in order to mitigate the impact for 
service users. 
 

 It is proposed that the 5 Hub centres will be located at Loughborough, 
Coalville, Wigston, Hinckley and Melton. These are the largest settlements, all 
of which currently have multiple buildings used for service delivery in the 
current model. 
 

 The 10 spokes are proposed to be located at Loughborough, Shepshed, 
Thurmaston, Coalville, Measham, Northern Parishes (Castle Donington), Earl 
Shilton, Market Harborough, Lutterworth and Huncote. 

 

 9 of the 25 buildings proposed for re-designation are situated within close 
proximity (approx. 1 mile) of an alternative service delivery building. 

 

 Analysis of Children’s Centre users during 2015-16 showed that a significant 
proportion of service users already access services from more than one 
centre. 

 

 A number of the centres proposed for re-designation are underused and some 
only deliver part of the existing Children’s Centre programme – for example, 

34



 

5 
 

centres at Bushby and Vale of Belvoir are used as delivery sites by Health 
only, with families in these areas serviced by targeted outreach support from 
Children’s Centre workers where required. 

 
Consultation and further analysis is planned to further explore the impact of these 
proposed changes for service users. 
 
Staff 
The significant reduction in funding and proposed creation of a single 0-19 Family 
Wellbeing Service will result in changes to the existing organisational structure, 
including a review of roles and a reduction in the number of posts. More work to 
scope the roles required to deliver the proposed Family Wellbeing Service will be 
undertaken during and following the consultation period. Further analysis of the 
workforce and the potential impact on staff will take place once this scoping work has 
been completed. Anything relating to equalities in respect of staffing issues will be 
dealt with through standard HR procedures (Action Plans etc.) 
 
Partners 
A number of partner organisations including Health and district and borough councils 
currently operate services from, or share space within, existing Early Help delivery 
buildings. Those delivering services from the 25 existing Children’s Centres and SLF 
Centres for which alternative uses are being explored may need to relocate to, or 
deliver their services from, alternative venues where this space is not available as 
part of the new proposals. Although partner delivery will be critical to the Family 
Wellbeing Service, there may be some implications on the type and amount space 
available for partner organisations to deliver services from in the Family Wellbeing 
Centres. 
 

4 Will this policy meet the Equality Act 2010 requirements to have due regard to 
the need to meet any of the following aspects? (Please tick and explain how) 

 Yes No How? 

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, 
harassment and 
victimisation 

 
 
 
 
 

 One of the outcomes of the support provided 
to families through the proposed Family 
Wellbeing Service will be the resilience, 
independence and awareness of equality 
issues which may strengthen the capacity of 
service users to challenge any experience of 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation. 

Advance equality 
of opportunity 
between different 
groups 

 
 
 
 
 

 The existing Early Help services have a 
clear focus on reducing inequalities for 
families by focusing on those in greatest 
need of support. This will continue through 
the proposed Family Wellbeing Service. 

Foster good 
relations between 
different groups 

 
 
 
 

 The proposed Family Wellbeing Service will 
have a focus on group work in the new 
model and will continue to be delivered in a 
way that promotes community cohesion and 
good relationships between different groups 
of people, and encourages peer support in a 
supportive environment. 

 
 

35



 

6 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights     
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Screening 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening 
The purpose of this section of the assessment is to help you decide if a full EHRIA is 
required.  
 
If you have already identified that a full EHRIA is needed for this policy/ practice/ 
procedure/ function/ service, either via service planning processes or other means, then 
please go straight to Section 3 on Page 7 of this document.  

 
 
 
 
 

Section 2  
A: Research and Consultation  

5. Have the target groups been consulted about the 
following?  
 

a) their current needs and aspirations and what is 
important to them; 
 

b) any potential impact of this change on them 
(positive and negative, intended and unintended); 

 
c) potential barriers they may face 

 

Yes No* 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

6. If the target groups have not been consulted directly, 
have representatives been consulted or research 
explored (e.g. Equality Mapping)? 
 

  

7. Have other stakeholder groups/ secondary groups (e.g. 
carers of service users) been explored in terms of 
potential unintended impacts? 
 

  
 

8. *If you answered 'no' to the question above, please use the space below to outline 
what consultation you are planning to undertake, or why you do not consider it to 
be necessary. 
 
Significant research and analysis has taken place to inform high level proposals, 
including best practice research, function mapping and service user analysis. Further 
work will be undertaken alongside and following the formal consultation period to develop 
detail of the proposed service and how it will be delivered. 
 
Some initial engagement relating to the proposals has taken place with staff and 
partners. 
 
It is a statutory requirement for a Local Authority to undertake formal statutory 
consultation wherever there are proposals in respect of the opening, change of use or 

36



 

7 
 

other major changes to the provision of Children’s Centres. 
 
The Cabinet report seeks permission to carry out a 12 week formal consultation period 
between January-April 2018. This will include consultation with a range of key 
stakeholders including the public, service users and potential  service users, staff and 
Trade unions, advisory  board members , internal partners and external partner 
organisations who  may  provide services (e.g. Health)  to gather further evidence and 
views on the potential impact of the proposal. 
 

The output of the consultation will be analysed and a final Full Business Case will 
be produced to take account of any comments. The consultation will inform 
improvements to and the detail of the new proposed model. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 2 
B: Monitoring Impact 

9. Are there systems set up to: 
 

a) monitor impact (positive and negative, intended 
and unintended) for different groups; 
 

b) enable open feedback and suggestions from 
different communities 

Yes No 

  

 
 
 

 

Note: If no to Question 8, you will need to ensure that monitoring systems are 
established to check for impact on the protected characteristics. 
 
Existing data held by the four Early Help Services has been used as the starting point for 
analysis. This relates to service users who have accessed services during the 2016-17 financial 
year. 
 
Further equalities information will be collected as part of the formal consultation process. This 
will provide an additional dataset and help fill in gaps in existing data, so that impact can be 
assessed by protected characteristic and mitigations implemented where appropriate.  
 
Systems to monitor impact and enable open feedback and suggestions will be established 
throughout the consultation period. 
 

Section 2 
C: Potential Impact 

10.  
Use the table below to specify if any individuals or community groups who identify 
with any of the ‘protected characteristics’ may potentially be affected by this policy 
and describe any positive and negative impacts, including any barriers.   
 

 Yes No Comments 
 
 

Age 
 
 

  The Early Help Service offer targets 0-19 year 
olds and their families. Each service targets a 

37



 

8 
 

specific age group; Children’s Centres work 
predominantly with children under the age of 5 
and their parents, as well as expectant parents. 
The Youth Offending Service works primarily with 
children aged 10-17, and Supporting 
Leicestershire Families work across the full 0-19 
spectrum, with its youth aspect focusing on 11-19. 
 
There are 14,148 Early Help service users aged 
0-19, 59% of the total Early Help service users. 
 
40% of service users are aged 19+, reflecting the 
whole family work undertaken by SLF and work 
carried out with parents by Children’s Centres. 
 
The Early Help service worked with 11,074 
children aged 0-5 in 2016/17, comprising 46% of 
the total service users. The potential reduction in 
the number of Children’s Centres will have a 
specific impact on this group and their parents, 
particularly those who currently access services 
based at centres proposed for redesignation, who 
may have to travel to an alternative venue in the 
future.  
 
It is proposed that alternative uses are explored 
for the future use of the Children’s Centres 
proposed for redesignation, including nursery 
care and Free Early Education Entitlement 
(FEEE) for 2 and 3 year olds which could have a 
positive impact for some service users of this age 
group. 
 
Teenage parents are a key target group for 
Children’s Centre services and some centres 
currently offer specific groups for these service 
users. There may be an impact on these service 
users, particularly where they are currently held at 
centres proposed for redesignation. Access to 
transport and affordability could be more difficult 
for this group or they may have to travel further to 
access services.  
 
Consideration  will be given to  ways to  mitigate 
these potential  impacts when  section  3 of this 
EHRIA is completed and this will  be  informed by  
the outcome of  consultation.  
 

Disability 
 

 

  178 of the 23,839 recorded Early Help service 
users during 2016-17 identified themselves as 
disabled (0.01%).  This is a relatively small 

proportion in comparison to the 3.23% of 0-15 
year olds and 6.95% of 16-49 year olds in 
Leicestershire who report that their day to day 
activities are limited in some way by a long 
term health problem or disability. Further work 

38



 

9 
 

will be undertaken to explore this dataset 
through consultation and assessment of the 
potential impact on this group.  
 
Some Children’s Centres currently offer groups 
for children with disabilities and their parents/ 
carers. There may be an impact on service users 
of these groups, particularly where they are 
currently held at centres proposed for 
redesignation. These service users may have to 
travel further to receive comparable services. 
 

Whilst the geographical distribution of the 
proposed Family Wellbeing Centres and the 
accessibility of their locations have been 
considered, travelling distances to Early Help 
services delivered through a reduced network 
of buildings may reduce access for people with 
physical mobility difficulties or other problems 
with travel as a result of mental health 
conditions or learning difficulties.  
 
Consideration  will be given to  ways to  mitigate 
these potential  impacts when  section  3 of this 
EHRIA is completed and this will  be  informed by  
the outcome of  consultation.  
 

Gender 
Reassignment 

 
  

  There is no known evidence to  suggest that a 
higher proportion of service users at the facilities 
which  may  be affected identify as trans or 
transgender than  would be  found in the wider 
population;  there are no accurate statistics 
available relating to the number of people who 
identify as trans or transgender within 
Leicestershire or the UK as a whole. Gender 
identity is not incorporated into the Census or 
other official statistics. Early Help Services do not 
currently collect data relating to Gender 
Reassignment. 
 
It is intended that the proposals are inclusive and 
therefore would not discriminate against people 
identifying with this characteristic, however 
proposals could potentially have an impact on 
service users who may find that there are 
changes to the way in which they access services 
and/or the venue from which they are provided. 
 
If further analysis identifies an adverse impact on 
persons with  this protected characteristic , 
consideration  will be given to  ways to  mitigate 
these potential  impacts when  section  3 of this 
EHRIA is completed and this will  be  informed by  
the outcome of  consultation.  
 

Marriage and   There is limited data available relating to this 

39



 

10 
 

Civil Partnership 
 

group; the marital status of 858 of the total 10,045 
Early Help service users aged 16+ has been 
recorded (9%).  
 
Of these, 29% are married, 17% are co-habiting, 
and 1% are in a civil partnership. 43% of service 
users are recorded as single, 6% separated and 
1% widowed. The largest group is therefore 
single; however the overall split between those in 
a marriage/partnership arrangement and those 
who are not is relatively even (46% against 53%). 
 
The impact of the proposals will  not be felt  more 
acutely  by  those who  are married or in  a civil  
partnership  than  those who  are  single or co-
habiting. 
 
It is intended that proposals are inclusive and 
therefore would not discriminate in any way 
against people identifying with this characteristic, 
however proposals could potentially have an 
impact on service users who may find that there 
are changes to the way in which they access 
services and/or the venue from which they are 
provided. 
 
If further analysis identifies an adverse impact on 
persons with  this protected characteristic , 
consideration  will be given to  ways to  mitigate 
these potential  impacts when  section  3 of this 
EHRIA is completed and this will  be  informed by  
the outcome of  consultation.  
 
  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

 
 

  The cohort of services users of the children’s 
centres is likely to  include a greater number of  
women who  are pregnant or who have  maternity  
responsibilities than would be found in   the wider 
population as this is  a key target group for 
Children’s Centres, with many services being 
targeted towards expectant and post-natal 
mothers with children under 5. 
 
There is no data collected relating specifically to 
pregnancy and maternity, however the gender 
split relating to the adult population aged 19+ 
using Children’s Centres (89% female, 10% male) 
reflects that many services are targeted towards 
this group; antenatal classes, breastfeeding 
support etc. 
 
Whilst the geographical distribution of the 
proposed Family Wellbeing Centres and the 
accessibility of their locations have been 
considered, travelling distances to Early Help 
services delivered through a reduced network of 
buildings may reduce access for women in 

40



 

11 
 

advanced pregnancy or with babies, who may find 
travelling more difficult and who may have travel 
further  to  access services. 
 
Consideration  will be given to  ways to  mitigate 
these potential  impacts when  section  3 of this 
EHRIA is completed and this will  be  informed by  
the outcome of  consultation.  
 

Race 
 

 

  Data relating to this group is available for 17,084 
of the overall 23,807 Early Help service users. 
 
Of these, 85% of service users identify as White 
and 10% as BME (other 5% not declared). 
 
The ethnic breakdown of service users varies 
across the county; ranging from 17% BME in 
Oadby & Wigston to 3% in Melton. Some 
Children’s Centres offer groups targeted at 
particular BME groups where there is a local 
need. There may be an impact on service users 
of these groups, particularly where they are 
currently held at centres proposed for 
redesignation. Further analysis will be undertaken 
to assess the local impact of proposed changes 
on this group and to identify appropriate 
mitigations, given the significant variance in the 
number BME service users across the county. 
 
It is intended that proposals are inclusive and 
therefore would not discriminate against people 
identifying with any particular race, however 
proposals could potentially have an impact on 
service users who may find that there are 
changes to the way in which they access services 
and/or the venue from which they are provided. 
Consideration  will be given to  ways to  mitigate 
these potential  impacts when  section  3 of this 
EHRIA is completed and this will  be  informed by  
the outcome of  consultation.  
 

Religion or 
Belief 

 
 

  Data collected relating to this characteristic is 
limited and only available for 3,570 of the total 
Early Help service users. 
 
Of these, 46% identify as Christian, and 46% do 
not identify with a religion. A further 8% identify 
with other religions, although a significant 
proportion of these do not specify which. 
 
There is no known reason to believe that a 
disproportionate number of service users of any 
particular religion would be affected by the 
proposals and it is intended that the proposals are 
inclusive and therefore would not discriminate 
against people identifying with any religions or 
beliefs. However, the proposals could potentially 

41



 

12 
 

have an impact on service users who may find 
that there are changes to the way in which they 
access services and/or the venue from which they 
are provided. Consideration  will be given to  
ways to  mitigate these   potential  impacts when  
section  3 of this EHRIA is completed and this will  
be  informed by  the outcome of  consultation.  
 
 
 

Sex 
 

 

  Data is available for this group and the gender 
profile shows the split of Early Help service users 
to be 62% female and 37% male (with the 
remaining 1% recorded as unknown, and 3 
people identifying as indeterminate). 
 
Breaking the profile down into different age 
groups, the gender split of children aged 0-5 and 
young people using Early Help Services is fairly 
even as would be expected. In 0-5 year olds the 
split is 48% female, 51% male, and in 6-18 year 
olds the split is slightly more male with 44% 
female and 55% male. 
 
The gender split of the adult population aged 19+ 
is less even, with females being the predominant 
service users. 85% of service users are recorded 
as female, 15% as male. This split is the greatest 
in relation to users of Children’s Centres (89% 
female, 10% male), where expectant parents and 
families with children under the age of 5 are the 
key target group. 
 
Both male and females will potentially be affected 
by changes to the service and location of delivery 
points, with larger number of adult females 
affected. Consideration  will be given to  ways to  
mitigate the   potential  impact  of this  when  
section  3 of this EHRIA is completed and this will  
be  informed by  the outcome of  consultation.  
 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 
   

  There are no accurate statistics available relating 
to the sexual orientation of the Leicestershire 
population, or of the UK as a whole.  
 
The four Early Help services do not currently 
collect data relating to the Sexual Orientation of 
its service users. 
 
It is intended that proposals are inclusive and 
therefore would not discriminate against people 
identifying with any particular sexual orientation, 
however proposals could potentially have an 
impact on service users who may find that there 
are changes to the way in which they access 
services and/or the venue from which they are 

42



 

13 
 

provided. Consideration  will be given to  ways to  
mitigate the   potential  impact  of this  when  
section  3 of this EHRIA is completed and this will  
be  informed by  the outcome of  consultation.  
 
. 

Other groups  
e.g. rural 
isolation, 

deprivation, 
health 

inequality, 
carers, asylum 

seeker and 
refugee 

communities, 
looked after 

children, 
deprived or 

disadvantaged 
communities 

 
 

  All current Early Help service users will potentially 
be affected by the proposals, with the result that 
some service users may need to access services 
either in a different way or from a different 
location.  
 
A number of criteria have been considered to help 
inform the locations of the proposed sites, 
including geographical distribution across the 
county, accessibility, deprivation and need, 
service user demand and suitability of buildings to 
help mitigate the impact of this as far as possible. 
 
Further analysis to explore the impact of the 
proposals in relation to these other groups will be 
undertaken during and following the consultation 
period and consideration  will be given to ways to  
mitigate any potential impact of this when section 
3 of this EHRIA is completed.  
 

Community 
Cohesion 

 

  Although belonging to a particular community is 
not a protected characteristic within the Equality 
Act 2010 and community cohesion is not a 
statutory equality objective, the Council 
recognises the importance of strong communities 
through the Leicestershire Communities Strategy 
2017-21.  
 
Early Help services contribute to community 
cohesion as services work with a range of partner 
organisations and have developed a large 
volunteer base that supports and enhances the 
existing offer. Proposals for the Family Wellbeing 
Service would continue with this approach which 
is in keeping with the Council’s strategy.  

11. Are the human rights of individuals potentially affected by this proposal? Could 
there be an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
(Please tick) 
 
Explain why you consider that any particular article in the Human Rights Act may 
apply to your policy/ practice/ function or procedure and how the human rights of 
individuals are likely to be affected below: [NB. Include positive and negative 
impacts as well as barriers in benefiting from the above proposal] 
 

 Yes No Comments 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms  
 

43



 

14 
 

Article 2: Right to life     

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

   

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

   

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

   

Article 6: Right to a fair trial     

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

   

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

  Although the majority of services 
delivered by Early Help are voluntary, 
in order for them to be most effective 
some disclosure of personal 
information is needed – this would 
remain the case for the proposed 
Family Wellbeing Service, which 
would continue to operate in line with 
Data Protection and information 
sharing requirements l and to respect 
its service users’ rights to private and 
family life. 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion  

   

Article 10: Right to freedom 
of expression 

   

Article 11: Right to freedom 
of assembly and association  

   

Article 12: Right to marry    

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 
 

 The proposed Family Wellbeing 
Service will continue to deliver 
services with due regard to the Public 
Sector Equality Duty, and to respect 
its service users’ rights. 

 
Part 2: The First Protocol  
 

Article 1: Protection of 
property/ peaceful 
enjoyment  

   

Article 2: Right to education  
  

 
 

 The proposals  do not involve the 
denial  of any  rights to  access the 
educational system; the proposed 
Family Wellbeing Service will continue 
to work with families to support and 
enable students to access education, 
including supporting them to take up 2 
and 3 year Free Early Education 
Entitlement where they are eligible.  

44



 

15 
 

Article 3: Right to free 
elections  

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

Section 2 
D: Decision 

12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is there evidence or any other reason to 
suggest that: 
 

a) this policy could have a different 
affect or adverse impact on any 
section of the community; 
 

b) any section of the community may 
face barriers in benefiting from the 
proposal 

Yes 
 

No 
 

Unknown 

 
 
 
 

  
 

   
 

13. 
 

Based on the answers to the questions above, what is the likely impact of this 
policy 
 

  
No Impact  

 
Positive Impact 

 
Neutral Impact 

 
Negative Impact or 
Impact Unknown 

 
Note: If the decision is ‘Negative Impact’ or ‘Impact Not Known’ an EHRIA Report 
is required. 

14. 
 
 

Is an EHRIA report required? 
 

 
       Yes 

 
            No 

 

 

 
Section 2: Completion of EHRIA Screening  
 
Upon completion of the screening section of this assessment, you should have identified 
whether an EHRIA Report is requried for further investigation of the impacts of this 
policy.  
 
Option 1: If you identified that an EHRIA Report is required, continue to Section 3 on 
Page 7 of this document to complete.     
 
Option 2: If there are no equality, diversity or human rights impacts identified and an 
EHRIA report is not required, continue to Section 4 on Page 14 of this document to 
complete.    
 

 
 
 

    

  
 

45



 

16 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Report 

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Report 
 
This part of the assessment will help you to think thoroughly about the impact of this 
policy and to critically examine whether it is likely to have a positive or negative impact 
on different groups within our diverse community. It is also to identify any barriers that 
may detrimentally affect under-represented communities or groups, who may be 
disadvantaged by the way in which we carry out our business. 
 
Using the information gathered either within the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, this EHRIA Report should be used to consider the impact or likely impact 
of the policy in relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in 
Leicestershire County Council’s Equality Strategy. 
 

 

Section 3 
A: Research and Consultation  

When considering the target groups it is important to think about whether new data 
needs to be collected or whether there is any existing research that can be utilised. 
 

15. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you now explored the following and what does this 
information/data tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

a) current needs and aspirations and what is important to individuals and 
community groups (including human rights); 
 

b) likely impacts (positive and negative, intended and unintended) to 
individuals and community groups (including human rights); 

 
c) likely barriers that individuals and community groups may face (including 

human rights) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



 

17 
 

16. Is any further research, data collection or evidence required to fill any gaps in your 
understanding of the potential or known affects of the policy on target groups?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

When considering who is affected by this proposed policy, it is important to think about 
consulting with and involving a range of service users, staff or other stakeholders who 
may be affected as part of the proposal. 
 

17. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you further consulted with those affected on the likely 
impact and what does this consultation tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18. Is any further consultation required to fill any gaps in your understanding of the 
potential or known effects of the policy on target groups?  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

47



 

18 
 

 

Section 3  
B: Recognised Impact 

19. Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
individuals or community groups who identify with any ‘protected characteristics’ 
are likely be affected by this policy. Describe any positive and negative impacts, 
including what barriers these individuals or groups may face. 
 

 Comments 
 

Age 
 
 

 

Disability 
 
 

 

Gender Reassignment 
 
 
 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 

 

Race 
 
 

 

Religion or Belief 
 
 

 

Sex 
 
 

 

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, 

health inequality, carers, 
asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, looked after 

children, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities 

 
 

 

Community Cohesion 
 
 

 

 
 

48



 

19 
 

 
 

20.  
Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
particular Articles in the Human Rights Act are likely apply to your policy. Are the 
human rights of any individuals or community groups affected by this proposal? Is 
there an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
 

 Comments 
 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms 
  

Article 2: Right to life  
 

 

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  
 

  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion 

 

Article 10: Right to freedom of 
expression 

 

Article 11: Right to freedom of 
assembly and association  

 

Article 12: Right to marry 
 

 

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 

 
Part 2: The First Protocol 
 

Article 1: Protection of property/ 
peaceful enjoyment  
 

 

Article 2: Right to education 
   
 

 

Article 3: Right to free elections  
 

 

49



 

20 
 

Section 3  
C: Mitigating and Assessing the Impact  

Taking into account the research, data, consultation and information you have reviewed 
and/or carried out as part of this EHRIA, it is now essential to assess the impact of the 
policy. 
 

21. If you consider there to be actual or potential adverse impact or discrimination, 
please outline this below. State whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give 
reasons. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N.B.  
 
i) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal, you are required 
to take action to remedy this immediately.  
 
ii) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or legitimate, 
you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect on those 
groups of people. 

22. Where there are potential barriers, negative impacts identified and/or barriers or 
impacts are unknown, please outline how you propose to minimise all negative 
impact or discrimination. 
 

a) include any relevant research and consultations findings which highlight 
the best way in which to minimise negative impact or discrimination 
 

b) consider what barriers you can remove, whether reasonable adjustments 
may be necessary, and how any unmet needs that you have identified can 
be addressed 
 

c) if you are not addressing any negative impacts (including human rights) or 
potential barriers identified for a particular group, please explain why 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



 

21 
 

Section 3 
D: Making a decision    

23. Summarise your findings and give an overview as to whether the policy will meet 
Leicestershire County Council’s responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity, 
community cohesion and human rights. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Section 3 
E: Monitoring, evaluation & review of your policy  

24. Are there processes in place to review the findings of this EHRIA and make 
appropriate changes? In particular, how will you monitor potential barriers and any 
positive/ negative impact? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25. How will the recommendations of this assessment be built into wider planning and 
review processes? 
e.g. policy reviews, annual plans and use of performance management systems 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  

51



 

22 
 

Section 3: 
F: Equality and human rights improvement plan  

 

 
Please list all the equality objectives, actions and targets that result from the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
(continue on separate sheets as necessary). These now need to be included in the relevant service plan for mainstreaming and 
performance management purposes. 
 

 
Equality Objective 

 
Action 

 
Target 

 
Officer Responsible 

 
By when 

 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

52



 

23 
 

 

Section 4: Sign off and scrutiny  
 
 

Upon completion, the Lead Officer completing this assessment is required to sign the 
document in the section below. 
 
It is required that this Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) is 
scrutinised by your Departmental Equalities Group and signed off by the Chair of the 
Group. 
 
Once scrutiny and sign off has taken place, a depersonalised version of this EHRIA 
should be published on Leicestershire County Council’s website. Please send a copy of 
this form to louisa.jordan@leics.gov.uk, Members Secretariat, in the Chief Executive’s 
department for publishing. 

 

Section 4 
A: Sign Off and Scrutiny 

 
Confirm, as appropriate, which elements of the EHRIA have been completed and are 
required for sign off and scrutiny. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Screening 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Report 
 

 
1st Authorised Signature (EHRIA Lead Officer): ……………………………………………… 
 
Date: …………………………. 
  
 

 
2nd Authorised Signature (DEG Chair): ………………………………………………………. 
 
Date: …………………………… 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

53

mailto:louisa.jordan@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

           
 

CABINET – 9 JANUARY 2018 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES  

 
2018/19 AND 2019/20 SCHOOL FUNDING FORMULA 

 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval of the 

Leicestershire Schools Funding Formula for 2018/19 and 2019/20 following the 
Department for Education’s (DfE) announcement that a National Funding 
Formula (NFF) for funding maintained schools and academies would be 
introduced from 2018/19.   

 
2. The introduction of a NFF is a further step in the Government’s policy on school 

funding reform and the implementation of fair funding for all schools. When fully 
implemented, all pupils with the same characteristics (e.g. those from deprived 
backgrounds, those with low attainment before starting primary or secondary 
school) will be funded the same, irrespective of the local authority area in which 
they attend school. 

 
Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended that: 
 

a) The outcomes of the consultation be noted; 
 

b) The 2018/19 and 2019/20 Leicestershire schools funding formula as 
detailed in paragraph 34 and the Appendix to this report be approved; 

 
c)  The proposed balancing 2018/19 adjustments for pupil led characteristics 

and school led factors as detailed in paragraphs 36-38 of this report be 
approved; 

 
d) The Director of Children and Family Services, following consultation with the 

Lead Member, be authorised to develop and consult on the methodology to 
be used to balance the cost of the 2019/20 School Funding Formula with the 
2019/20 Schools Block Dedicated Schools Grant. 

 
 
 

55 Agenda Item 5



 

Reason for Recommendations 
 
4. To enable the County Council to respond to the requirement to submit the 

2018/19 school funding formula to the Education and Skills Funding Agency. 
 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. Local Authorities are required by the Department for Education (DfE) to submit 

their proposals for the 2018/19 school funding formula to the Education Funding 
and Skills Agency by 19 January 2018. 

 
6. In view of the extremely short timescale (the necessary data was only received 

from the DfE in mid-October), this report will be circulated to all members of the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (which is not due to 
meet until 15 January), and any comments will be reported to the Cabinet.   

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. In October 2013 the Cabinet approved the Council’s submission to the 

Secretary of State for Education regarding funding for schools undertaking or 
affected by age range changes. 

 
8. In October 2014, the Cabinet approved the 2015/16 school funding formula. 
 
9. The Schools Forum considered the County Council’s approach to the 

implementation of the NFF at meetings on 25 September 2017, 6 November 
2017 and 4 December 2017 (more detail is given in Part B of this report below). 

 
Resources Implications 
 
10. The 2017/18 notional NFF allocations published by the DfE show an estimated 

cash increase of £10.7m in 2018/19, rising to £19.1m in 2019/20 for 
Leicestershire schools 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 

 £ % £ % 

Primary +£3.2m 2% £5.8m 3% 

Secondary +£7.5m 5% £13.3m 8% 

 
Total 

 
+£10.7m 

 
3% 

 
+£19.1m 

 
5% 

  

Note: These notional allocations do not represent the 2018/19 and 2019/20 
budgets for individual schools, but are the estimated level of Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG) to be received by the Authority on which the local funding formula 
will be applied. 

 
11. The 2018/19 Schools Block DSG settlement to local authorities will be a value 

per primary and secondary pupil based upon pupil characteristics recorded 
within the October 2016 school census plus a fixed sum for school led factors. 
The figures confirmed for Leicestershire are: 

56



 

 

2018/19 DSG 
 

No of October 2017 primary pupils   x £3,811 

+ 

No of October 2017 secondary pupils x £4,930 

+ 

Funding for school led factors – Rent / 
Rates / New School Growth 

Per 2017/18 
expenditure 

=  

Total DSG £ 

 
12. School funding for individual schools will be driven by the pupil characteristics 

recorded on the October 2017 school census which will be combined with 
school led factors i.e. rent, rates, pupil growth and age range changes.  Any 
cost increase to the school led factors will not be funded by the DfE - as a result 
there will be either an annual Schools Block funding gap or surplus from the 
implementation of the NFF. This cannot be quantified until the revised 2017 
data is converted into budgets for individual schools and academies. The 
funding formula will therefore need to include a methodology for ensuring 
individual school budgets do not exceed the total grant.  

 
13. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14.  None.  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Paul Meredith 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel:  0116 305 6300 
Email: Paul.Meredith@leics.gov.uk 
 
Jenny Lawrence 
Business Partner, Finance, Corporate Resources Dept. 
Tel:  0116 305 6401 
Email: Jenny.Lawrence@leics.gov.uk      

57

mailto:Paul.Meredith@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jenny.Lawrence@leics.gov.uk


 

PART B 
 

Background 
 

15. The Department for Education (DfE) announced in July that it would be 
implementing a National Funding Formula (NFF) as a ‘soft’ formula from April 
2018 and be in place for both 2018/19 and 2019/20. The term ‘soft’ formula 
refers to the situation where notional school level allocations are calculated by 
the DfE with reference to pupil characteristics, with local authorities then 
applying a local school funding formula to derive individual budgets for schools 
and academies. 

 
16. It is expected that responsibility for setting a school funding formula will be 

removed from local authorities at some point in the future with all school 
budgets being calculated nationally by the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA). It was anticipated that this change would be implemented in 2020/21 
although there is growing uncertainty on whether this can be achieved. 

 
17. No school sees a cash decrease within its budget as a result of the 

Government’s NFF being implemented as a result of a hierarchy of gains and 
protections which are detailed below and which have been adopted within the 
proposed Leicestershire formula options: 
 

 A minimum per pupil increase of 0.5% in 2018/19 rising to a minimum of 
1.0% per pupil in 2019/20. 

 A funding cap limiting gains to 3% per pupil in 2018/19 and a further 3% 
per pupil in 2019/20.  

 Minimum per pupil values of £3,300 for primary schools, £4,000 for 
secondary schools with Key Stage 3 Pupils only, and £4,600 for 
secondary schools in 2018/19 rising to £3,500, £4,200 and £4,800 
respectively in 2019/20.  The minimum increase per pupil is outside the 
funding cap. 

 
18. It should be noted that all gains are expressed on a per pupil basis and 

therefore schools with falling pupil numbers will see an overall reduction in their 
budgets. These schools may also be affected by the methodology implemented 
to ensure aggregate school budgets do not exceed the DSG allocation.  
 

19. The NFF proposals result in 120 (54%) of primary schools and 4 (8%) of 
secondary schools in Leicestershire being funded at the floor, i.e. receiving the 
minimum increase of 0.5% per pupil in 2018/19. In 2019/20 129 (58%) primary 
schools will be funded at the floor, with secondary schools remaining at 4 (8%).  

 
Development of the Leicestershire Formula 
 
20. Proposals for the 2018/19 Leicestershire formula have been co-produced with 

schools through an officer led working group consisting of headteachers, 
business managers, and Schools Forum members representing primary and 
secondary schools. The timescale for change has been exceptionally short as 

58



 

local authorities only received the necessary data from the DfE in mid-October 
2017, allowing little time to enable the modelling of options. 

 
21. Three potential approaches were identified through discussions within the 

school formula working group and Schools Forum: 
 

1) Retain the current funding formula – this approach was not modelled based 
on early views received from schools. 

 
2) Write a new formula – it was not possible to pursue this approach within the 

time available. 
 
3) Replicate the NFF as closely as possible unless there is a clear benefit for 

deviating from it – all modelling was completed on this basis. 
 
22. There were four areas where consideration was given to a deviation from the 

NFF for the 2017/18 Leicestershire funding formula in respect of primary 
schools: 

 
1) Lump sum – the Leicestershire allocation is £150,000 per school but the 

NFF reduces this to £110,000.  The reduction in the lump sum, whilst 
protected within the proposals, leaves small schools financially reliant upon 
national levels of protection during the NFF transition period.   

 
2) Deprivation – the 2017/18 formula focuses funding on the Income 

Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI).  This focuses upon area 
deprivation rather than Free School Meals (FSM) which instead centres on 
parental income used within the NFF.  The use of FSM results in a wider 
distribution of deprivation funding, and thus some schools with higher 
numbers of pupils from economically deprived areas are financially 
disadvantaged. 

 
3) Prior Attainment – additional national funding was targeted into this factor, 

doubling that distributed within the 2017/18 Leicestershire formula.  This 
increase allowed alternative models to be explored with no financial 
detriment to 2017/18 funding levels.  Alternative distributions to the NFF did 
restrict gains for those schools gaining the most through the NFF proposals. 

 
4) Sparsity – the NFF included this additional factor which is not present within 

the 2017/18 Leicestershire formula.  This will generate funding for 18 
schools (17 primary and 1 secondary).  The data used for the NFF allocation 
is complex and uses average year groups combined with the ‘crow flies’ 
distance that pupils would be required to travel to their second nearest 
school.  Following consideration of the financial benefit against the 
complexity of the calculation, particularly given that it offered no protection 
for a reduction in lump sum, this factor was excluded from the options 
offered for consultation. 

 
23. Modelling on these proposed deviations for primary schools sought to ascertain 

whether there would be a significant impact on the number of primary schools 

59



 

that could be lifted from the funding floor, i.e. receive more than the minimum 
increase of 0.5% per pupil which, in real terms, will represent a decrease in 
funding in 2018/19 and 2019/20. 
 

24. The School and Early Years Finance Regulations make provision for differential 
funding rates between school phases, meaning that it is possible to differentiate 
funding rates between primary and secondary but not within phases - i.e. once 
a rate is established it must be applied to all schools in that school phase. This 
means that different options could be considered for primary and secondary 
schools.  Whilst similar modelling was completed for secondary schools, there 
was a firm view that the NFF should be adopted as soon as possible. 
 
In light of this and the modelling undertaken, three options were identified for 
consultation. Two options were presented for primary schools and one for 
secondary schools as set out below:   

 
Primary Option 1 - Move as close as possible to the National Funding Formula 
with the exclusion of the sparsity factor. 

 
Primary Option 2 - Adopt the National Funding formula principles but adjust the 
Leicestershire Formula to maintain the lump sum at £150,000, retain prior 
attainment funding at 2017/18 levels, and allocate the increased free school 
meal funding to retain IDACI at 2017/18 funding levels. 

 
Secondary Option - The views expressed by secondary schools was that they 
would wish to align the formula as closely as possible to the NFF at the earliest 
opportunity with the exception of the use of the sparsity factor. 

 
25. Two areas were identified where it would be necessary to rebalance the 

Leicestershire formula to ensure that it did not exceed the funding available. 
Schools were asked for their view on intended approach based on the need for 
adjustments; 

 
1) Changes to pupil characteristics  – This occurs because of the differential 

pupil census information (referred to in paragraphs 11 and 12 above) used 
within the funding allocation to local authorities and that on which school 
budgets should be based.  Should, for example, the level of deprived pupils 
increase between these two points the additional cost is unfunded.  Any 
such adjustment would be made in the NFF, i.e. the increased primary 
school cost would be adjusted against the primary NFF allocations and 
secondary cost increase in secondary funding by adjusting the basic pupil 
funding. 

 
2) School led factors – Funding for rent, rates, pupil growth and age range 

changes is based on the level of expenditure for 2017/18, and increase in 
cost is unfunded.  The approach proposed was that any additional costs 
would be met across the quantum of Schools Block DSG.  A complicating 
factor however is that modelling identified a potential surplus in 2018/19 
rising to a deficit in 2019/20.  Funding any deficit would require a reduction in 
the NFF allocations. 

60



 

 
Consultation 
 
26. Schools have been engaged throughout the process of determining the school 

funding formula.  Two meetings of the school funding formula working group 
provided support and challenge in the development of the formula. 

 
27. The Schools Forum (which consists of Headteachers and Governors across all 

school phases) considered the options for and the approach to developing the 
formula at three recent meetings; 

 

25 September 2017 Discussed and supported the local authorities 
approach to developing a new formula. 

6 November 2017 Discussed and supported the options for the 
formula and the consultation approach. 

4 November 2017 Discussed and gave its views on the consultation 
outcome.  

  
28. Consultation on the two primary and one secondary formula option opened to 

all maintained schools, academies and studio schools on 20 November 2017 
and closed on 30 November 2017.  Responses were received from 95 schools 
representing 44% of Leicestershire pupils.  
 

29.   Feedback on the local formula options is given in the table below. 
 

 No of 
School 

Responses 

% of Total 
Pupils 

% of pupils 
represented 
within the 
responses 

Primary Option 1 – Align with NFF with the exclusion of sparsity 

 Primary  15 12% 49% 

 Secondary 22 43% 75% 

Primary Option 2 – Adopt NFF principles but adjust for lump sum, prior 
attainment and deprivation 

 Primary 35 12% 51% 

 Secondary 7 24% 25% 

Secondary Option – Align with NFF with the exclusion of sparsity 

 Primary 32 16% 25% 

 Secondary 34 70% 72% 

 
This showed: 

 
1) More primary schools expressed a preference for an adjusted 

Leicestershire formula, the pupils those schools represent totalled 12% of 
the pupil population in both options. 

 
2) There was a firm view from secondary schools (70% of the pupil 

population) that the formula should align with the NFF with the exclusion of 
sparsity. 

 

61



 

  
30. Feedback on the proposed methodology to rebalance the formula showed: 

 
1) There were 81 responses to the proposal to rebalance the school level NFF 

allocations to the DSG received.  Of these, 74 (representing 39% of 
Leicestershire pupils and 94% of those represented within the responses) 
agreed with the local authority proposal to balance within the funding 
generated within each school phase.   

 
2) There were 82 responses to the proposal to meet any increased costs 

arising from rent, rates, existing age range changes and new school growth 
by adjusting the Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU) and the minimum per 
pupil funding as a universal adjustment for all schools.  Of these, 43 
(representing 17% of Leicestershire pupils and 40% of pupils represented 
by the responses) agreed but 39 (25% of total pupils, 60% of pupils 
represented by the responses) disagreed. Views were also sought on the 
treatment of any surplus or deficit within the school led factors where it 
became almost impossible to separate the two issues. 

 
3) It is expected that there will be a surplus on the school led factors in 

2018/19 which would be available to distribute to schools in 2018/19, but a 
deficit in 2019/20 particularly should there be further age range changes 
implemented within academies. There were 83 responses to the proposal 
to retain the surplus in 2018/19 to offset against a necessary reduction in 
school budgets in 2019/20. Of those 40 (11% of total pupils and 26% of the 
pupils represented by the responses) agreed and 43 (31% of total pupils, 
74% of the pupils represented) disagreed.  

 
Schools Forum 

 
31. At its meeting on 4 December the Schools Forum was asked whether there 

were any comments it would wish to make to the Cabinet in respect of the 
consultation and the proposal for 2018/19 and 2019/20 school funding. 
 
1)  It unanimously agreed that the Authority should implement the NFF from 

2018/19 for both primary and secondary school budgets.  A strong view 
was expressed that the modelling on the alternative option for primary 
schools did not identify sufficient reasoning for deviation from the NFF 
which is the first step towards fair funding for all schools. There were 
concerns about any potential gap in funding at the point school funding 
responsibilities would be removed from local authorities and concerns 
about future levels of protection. 

 
2) In respect of the balancing adjustment for the school led factors, the 

Forum expressed concern that it could not make a decision without an 
indication of the level of funding required in 2019/20 and strongly believed 
that the estimated surplus in 2018/19 should be distributed to schools.  

 
3) Many of the comments made during the consultation in respect of the 

distribution of the surplus on the school led factors element suggested 

62



 

that this should be distributed to schools with only Key Stage 3 (KS3) 
pupils, on the basis that the NFF applies a lower minimum per pupil 
funding rate to those schools when compared with KS3 pupils attending 
11-16 years secondary schools.  This differential funding rate is set within 
the NFF and is a national anomaly which has been and will continue to be 
drawn to the attention of the DfE. 

 
Proposals for 2018/19 and 2019/20  
 
The School Funding Formula 
 
32. Achieving the best outcome for pupils is a key determinant in setting out the 

proposals for the school funding formula. Responses to the consultation on the 
two primary school options were evenly split between adopting the NFF with 
the exclusion of sparsity (Primary Option 1) and adopting the Leicestershire 
alternative (Primary Option 2) in respect of pupil numbers within the schools 
that responded, although a higher number of schools wished to adopt Option 2. 

 
33. The effect of applying the NFF generally means that smaller schools with fewer 

than 220 pupils will receive the minimum per pupil increase of 0.5%. The 
alternative would create a more even spread of the additional funding 
generated by the primary NFF schools and those set to gain the most would  
have those gains reduced.  However, neither option can moderate any loss for 
schools arising from the reduction in the lump sum or any other factor within the 
NFF, which is protected for two years following the implementation of the NFF.  

 
34. As a clear benefit for deviation from the NFF has not been identified, it is 

proposed that Primary Option 1 and the Secondary Option as detailed in 
paragraph 24 above be adopted and implemented for 2018/19 and 2019/20 
(i.e. for both primary and secondary schools the formula would be aligned with 
the NFF with the exclusion of the sparsity factor). If approved by the Cabinet, 
the implications for adopting these two Options on the funding rates proposed 
for 2018/19 and 2019/20 will be as set out in the Appendix to this report.    
 

35. Within the NFF the additional 2019/20 funding will be delivered nationally 
through adjustments to the minimum per pupil rates and increasing the 
percentages applied to the floors and ceilings methodology as set out in 
paragraph 17. 

 
Balancing the NFF and the DSG 

 
36. In respect of the balancing adjustments required to match the notional NFF 

allocations to the DSG, the proposal is as set out in the consultation and will be 
contained within each school phase. 

 
37. It is proposed that the expected 2018/19 DSG surplus from the school led 

factors in element of DSG is retained. This is not an approach supported by 
schools, however given that distribution to address the Key Stage 3 issue is not 
possible (given the nationally set floors and ceilings mechanism within the 
formula) 83 schools would benefit from the allocation which could become an 

63



 

on-going annual commitment.  Retaining this element of funding so that it can 
be called on to help address the forecast deficit in 2019/20 would not affect the 
distribution of the pupil led funding in 2018/19. 

 
38. It is proposed that any decision on funding increased school led costs, including 

any further age range changes for 2019/20,is deferred until there is more 
certainty over costs.  Discussions with schools, including via the Schools Forum 
will commence in the autumn term of 2018 to determine the most suitable 
approach. 

 
Appendix 
 
2018/19 and 2019/20 Proposed Funding Rates 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Schools Forum on 6 November 2017 – 2018/19 School Funding 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1018&MId=5254&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Schools Forum on 25 September 2017 – 2018/19 School Funding 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1018&MId=5088&Ver=4 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
39. The proposal does not affect any protected characteristics; it is concerned with 

the allocation of funding to individual schools. 

64

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1018&MId=5254&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1018&MId=5088&Ver=4


 

          Appendix  

2018/19 and 2019/20 Proposed Funding Rates 

 

Funded Characteristic 2017/18 rate per 

Eligible Pupil 

 

£ 

Proposed 2017/18 rate 

per Eligible Pupil 

£ 

Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU) (1)   

Primary 2,705 2,747 

Key Stage 3 3,288 3,863 

Key Stage 4 4,284 4,386 

   

Deprivation   

Primary Free School Meal  431 440 

Primary Ever 6 (2)  Free School Meal 0 540 

Secondary Free School Meal 431 440 

Secondary Ever 6 Free School Meal 0 785 

IDACI (3) Primary Band F 627 200 

IDACI Primary Band E 627 240 

IDACI Primary Band D 940 360 

IDACI Primary Band C 940 360 

IDACI Primary Band B 1,255 420 

IDACI Primary Band A 1,571 575 

IDACI Secondary Band F 636 290 

IDACI Secondary Band E 636 390 

IDACI Secondary Band D 954 515 

IDACI Secondary Band C 954 560 

65



 

IDACI Secondary Band B 1,273 600 

IDACI Secondary Band A 1,599 810 

   

English as an Additional Language   

Primary 0 515 

Secondary 0 1,385 

   

Low Prior Attainment   

Primary 566 1,050 

Secondary 1,021 1,550 

   

Lump Sum   

Primary  150,000 110,000 

Secondary 150,000 110,000 

   

Minimum per Pupil Funding (4) School Specific 

Funding Floor (4) School Specific 

Funding Ceiling (4) School Specific 

  

(1) Pre adjusted value - adjustment may be required to ensure formula does not exceed DSG 

arising from the cost of aggregate pupil characteristic changes and increases in school led costs 

  

(2) Ever 6 Free School Meal – any pupil that has ever been registered as eligible for a free school 

meal at any time over the last 6 years 

 

(3) Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index - Band A = most deprived, Band F + least 

deprived 

 

66



 

(4)  Levels of protection within the NFF – allocations will be school specific based upon the 

aggregate budget allocated to all funded pupil characteristics 

 

67



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

   

CABINET – 9TH JANUARY 2018 
 

IN-HOUSE FOSTERING FEES REVIEW 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES  

 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval to undertake a consultation 

exercise with foster carers in January and February 2018 on proposed changes 
to the Fostering Fee Payment Structure. The changes proposed seek to increase 
the payments given to foster carers, both mainstream and kinship, at the lowest 
end of the skills payment scale and rationalise the structure at the top end of the 
scale. Consideration also needs to be given to the subsequent financial impact 
on current carers based on drafted proposals. 

 
Recommendations  

 
2. It is recommended:- 

 
a) That a consultation exercise on the proposed changes to the Council’s 

Fostering Fee Payment Structure be undertaken as detailed in this report; 
 
b) That the Director of the Children and Family Services be authorised to 

make ad-hoc temporary payments to foster carers in addition to their skills 
fee, based on the needs of the child in placement;  
 

c) That a further report be made to the Cabinet in March 2018 regarding the 
outcome of the consultation together with the final Fostering Fee Payment 
Structure for consideration. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. Changes to the Fostering Fees Structure are proposed as part of a suite of 

enablers to help achieve the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) savings 
target of £2,900,000 by contributing to the service’s ability to meet its challenging 
in-house fostering recruitment targets. This change is thought to help enable the 
service to reduce its reliance on Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) provision - 
which per child placed equates to an avoided cost of approximately £15,000 per 
year.   
 

4. This change would complement other ongoing activity in enabling the realisation 
of the service’s challenging fostering recruitment targets.  

69 Agenda Item 6



 
 

5. The authorisation sought for the Director to make discretionary ad-hoc payments 
would cater for situations where the child or young person’s needs are above 
what is expected of the skills level of the carer.   

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
6. It is intended that a six-week consultation will take place in January and February 

2018.  
 

7. The consultation outcomes and the final proposed changes to the Fostering Fee 
Structure will be submitted to the Cabinet in March 2018 for consideration, 
subject to which the revised structure would operate from April 2018.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. The Children Act 1989 states that all children and young people in foster care are 

the responsibility of the local authority in the area where the child’s birth family is 
resident at the time the child is taken into care. The responsibility remains with 
that local authority regardless of whether the child or young person is placed in 
local authority foster care or with an IFA.  
 

9. The County Council’s current policy on foster carers is contained within the 
strategy ‘Choices for Children and Young People 2013: A Placement and 
Sufficiency Strategy for Children and Young People in Leicestershire’s Care’, 
which was approved by the Cabinet in December 2013. 

 
Resource Implications 

 
10. The proposed 2018/19 MTFS sets out a savings target of £700,000 in 2018/19, 

rising to £2,900,000 in 2021/22 in relation to increasing Leicestershire’s internal 
foster care capacity and reducing reliance on IFAs.  
 

11. The fostering service has targets for the net increase in the number of 
mainstream foster carers of 25 per year, and this increase is targeted to be 
delivered within the service as business as usual activity which includes a 
potential revision to the carer allowances paid as described in this report. This is 
expected to deliver savings of £400,000 in 2018/19 rising to £1,800,000 in 
2021/22.  Additionally, a target has been set for the recruitment of specialist 
foster carers delivering proposed savings of £400,000 in 2018/19 rising to 
£1,100,000 in 2021/22.  Recruitment of in- house foster carers will ensure that 
children’s needs can be met at a lower cost but is unlikely to be sufficient to keep 
pace with the projected increase in the number of children in care. 

 
12. The current annual difference between the existing entry-level payment and a 

level 1 payment is £1,976. There are currently 9 mainstream fostering 
placements and 75 kinship placements who still receive an entry-level payment. 
The impact of the current proposal, assuming the decision to place kinship carers 
in line with the new proposed fee structure is endorsed and approved would have 

70



 
 

a total additional cost impact of £165,872 annually to baseline costs1.  The 
subsequent impact on Leicestershire’s average weekly unit cost of mainstream 
foster care as a whole is that it changes the total average weekly unit cost from 
£494 per week to £497 per week. This compares to a current average IFA cost 
per week of £783. The changes proposed would therefore change the potential 
annual avoided cost between in-house fostering provision and external fostering 
provision from £15,028 per child to £14,872. Based on an additional annual cost 
of £165,872 as result of changing the fee payment at entry level, it would require 
11 mainstream foster carers to be recruited and have a child placed to pay back 
the additional cost of change before any savings from future recruitment can be 
realised.  
 

13. Whilst it is not feasible to evidence what the direct benefit of this proposal around 
the fee structure would have on recruitment specifically, there is recognition that 
the change is needed to put Leicestershire County Council closer in line with 
operational practise in the market. An uplift to the fostering fees at the lowest end 
of the payment scale and rationalisation of the number of levels is thought to be 
one of the key enablers to achieving the targeted number of new foster carers to 
help deliver the service’s MTFS savings. 

 
14. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
15. None. 
 
Officer(s) to Contact 
 
Paul Meredith, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel. 0116 305 7441  
Email. Paul.Meredith@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care 
Tel. 0116 305 5479  
Email. Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
  

                                                           
1
 Kinship foster care refers to where a child who cannot be cared for by their parents is cared for by a relative 

or family friend. 

71

mailto:Paul.Meredith@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk


 
 

PART B 
Background 
 
16. There is a competitive market for foster carers, of which there is a national 

shortage, and Leicestershire competes with both other local authorities and IFAs 
to attract carers. 
 

17. Research from the National Office for Statistics published in February 2017 
reveals that there has been a countrywide drop in applications to become a foster 
carer.  Nationally there were 11,460 applications in 2015 to 2016, compared to 
16,920 the previous year.  This 38% reduction demonstrates the challenging 
environment in terms of in-house recruitment in which the County Council’s 
Fostering Service operates. 
 

18. Inevitably, there is natural turnover of foster carers and evidence from the 
Fostering Network suggests that typically 12% of foster carers leave or retire 
each year.  Last year (2016/17) Leicestershire’s turnover stood at 14%, reflecting 
a higher proportion of older carers approaching retirement and some foster 
carers becoming adopters.  Leicestershire’s annual turnover rate is expected to 
reduce to 12% going forward. 
 

19. The challenge for the Service therefore is to recruit a net increase of in-house 
foster care provision over and above natural losses, and, importantly to retain 
new and existing carers (via training and support).  This will avoid the additional 
cost associated with IFAs and meet the forecasted increased in demand for 
placements for Looked after Children (LAC) over the next four years of the 
MTFS, and beyond. 

 
20. There are currently 547 LAC in Leicestershire, of which 408 are in Fostering 

provision.  This breaks down as 150 placed in in-house fostering provision, 169 in 
IFA provision, and 89 in Kinship care.  Leicestershire is working hard to recruit 
more foster carers and expand its in-house service2.  

 
21. The number of LAC in Leicestershire is forecast to rise to 769 by 2021/22 of 

which 447 are forecast to require fostering placements and 126 Kinship 
placements.  This growing demand highlights the importance of achieving 
Leicestershire in-house fostering recruitment targets.  
 

22. It is noteworthy for comparison purposes, that Lincolnshire County Council has 
125 IFA placements to 330 in-house fostering places.  This demonstrates that 
although difficult, with targeted efforts it is possible to re-calibrate the balance 
between independent and in-house position.    
 

Recruitment and Retention of Foster Carers 
 
23. Following a restructure in 2016, the Service has been reviewing and improving its 

approach to the recruitment and support (retention) for in-house fostering with a 
view to matching the best operational practices of IFAs.  A number of work 

                                                           
2
 These figures are correct as of 14

th
 December 2017.  

72



 
 

strands are now underway including the redevelopment of the website and 
branding, improved use of digital and social media marketing, engagement 
activities and events and a number of process improvements.  The review of the 
Council’s Fostering Fees Payment Structure is seen as one key enabler to 
achieving the fostering recruitment targets in the context of a suite of other 
developmental activity that is already underway. 

 
Rationale for Change 
 
24. Foster carers are compensated for their services in two parts:  
 

a. An allowance in line with the government’s national minimum 
recommended allowance rates to cover the costs of looking after a child or 
young person which increases with the age of the child; and  

 

b. A skills fee reflecting the skills required to look after the child in care.  
 

25. The current Fostering Fee Payment Structure has a Level ‘0’ skills fee which 
means that some carers receive no skills payment, only the basic allowance to 
cover the cost of looking after the child.  This does not compensate the carer for 
their time or skills in caring for the child and is considered to be a barrier to 
recruitment and retention.  Leicestershire’s last annual foster carer survey 
(October 2017), demonstrated that some foster carers felt undervalued due to the 
payment levels and a focus group with foster carers held in August 2017 fed back 
that foster carers felt frustrated by the ‘level 0’ payment bracket. 
 

26. A survey was undertaken over a 9-month period in 2016-17 with prospective 
foster carers who expressed an interest but ultimately did not proceed to foster 
with the County Council.  The results showed that 4 of 25 (16%) respondents 
cited an issue with payment and reward as their reason for not proceeding, whilst 
the remainder felt “now is not the right time”. 
 

27. Comparison with both statistical local authority neighbours and geographical 
neighbouring authorities (where fee information was available) shows 
Leicestershire’s fees to be at the lower end of the payment scale, and lower on 
average than its neighbours.  This makes it difficult for Leicestershire to meet its 
recruitment targets with competition for carers between neighbouring authorities 
(as well as IFAs) high.   

 
Proposed Changes  
 
28. There is an urgent need to develop the number and range of fostering 

placements available to meet the needs of Leicestershire’s children and young 
people in care through a vigorous recruitment programme due to the growing 
number of children and young people entering care.  Increasing the payments at 
the lower end of the Fostering Fee Payment scale is thought likely to aid the 
recruitment of new foster cares.  
 

29. It is proposed that Kinship foster carers who are currently paid at ‘level 0’ also 
benefit from the proposed changes and are also moved to level 1 alongside 

73



 
 

mainstream foster carers. This would ensure that the Authority is treating all 
foster carers equitably and is rewarding and compensating all carers for their time 
and skills appropriately and is in line with good practice and recent case law.   
 

30. Foster Carers have reported confusion with the payments at the top end of the 
payment scale and the multi-layered scale also makes the payments difficult to 
administer and track. Rationalising the number of payment levels would simplify 
the structure and communications for current and prospective carers. The 
proposed changes at the top end of the scale are to remove level 5 which is no 
longer used in practice, and rename the level 6 scheme as ‘Specialist’ to make it 
clearer what this means.  Level 6 currently encompasses specialist carers and 
the service intends to recruit in parallel, one to one, parent and child, pathway 
and short break carers in order to meet the proposed MTFS targets.  It is 
proposed that further details on the specialist scheme be brought back to the 
Cabinet for consideration in March 2018.  

 
31. Figure 2 below set out the current fee structure and the proposed changes to this. 

The proposed difference is the removal of the ‘level 0’ payment and the 
rationalisation of levels 5 and 6.  
 

Figure 2: 

Current Skills Fee structure (including allowances) - Fee per week 

Ages 

Level 

0 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 

 

Level 6 Specialist 

1:1 Carers 

0-4 £128 £160 £192 £224 £307 £384 £448  

5-10 £141 £176 £212 £247 £338 £423 £494  

11-16 £161 £201 £242 £282 £386 £483 £564  

16+ £188 £235 £282 £329 £451 £564 £658  

Average 

Per Week £155 £193 £232 £270 £371 £464 £541 
£815 

Average 

Per 

Annum £8034 £10,043 £12,051 £14,060 £19,282 £24,102 £28,132 

£42,380 

Proposed Skills Fee structure (including allowances) - Fee per week 

 

Level 

0 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Specialist Range 

 (which includes 1:1, Parent and 

Child, Wrap Around Therapeutic 

Support, Short Break etc.) 

0-4  £160 £192 £224 £307 
 

£440 - £815 

 

5-10  £176 £212 £247 £338 

11-16  £201 £242 £282 £386 

16+  £235 £282 £329 £451 

Average 

Per Week  £193 £232 £270 £371 

Dependent upon recruitment and 

needs of presenting LAC 

Average 

Per 

Annum  £10,043 £12,051 £14,060 £19,282 

As above 

74



 
 

Consultation 
 

32. A formal consultation will ensure that the views of both current and prospective 
foster carers can be considered fully. 
 

33. It is intended that the consultation exercise will be held for six weeks in January 
and February 2018, through targeted consultation with current foster carers.  
Other key stakeholders who will be directly or indirectly affected by the proposed 
changes will also be included in the consultation, namely - 
 

 Prospective Foster Carers 

 Senior Management, Service Managers, Independent Reviewing Officers, 
and other staff in Children and Family Services 

 Other County Council Services as appropriate. 
 

34. The feedback will be detailed in a further report to the Cabinet in March 2018 
which will present a revised Fostering Fee Payment Structure for consideration. 
 

Discretionary Ad-Hoc Payments 
 

35. Authorisation is sought for the Director to make discretionary ad-hoc payments to 
foster carers would cater for situations where the child or young person’s needs 
are above what is expected of the skills level of that carer.   
 

36. In these circumstances a carer must be able to justify why and how the extra 
expense is incurred and any payment award made will be temporary for the 
duration of the current child in placement only.   For example, a level 4 carer who is 
approved for two fostering places may be asked to care for a child who requires a 
sole-placement.  In this scenario, a discretionary temporary payment may be 
awarded to compensate the carer for the loss of income caused due to the vacant 
bed for the duration the first child is in placement.  Other reasons for additional 
payments might include additional clothing allowance needed due to bedwetting or 
soiling, or to cover extra travel costs arising from multiple hospital trips. 
 

37. It is proposed that any awards of this kind will be requested and monitored 
through the Case Decision Making Panel and the Permanence Panel and the 
payments tracked and reviewed at a timescale agreed by Panels.   

 
Background Papers 
 

Report to the Cabinet on 13 December 2013 - “Choices for Children and Young 
People 2013: A Placement and Sufficiency Strategy for Children and Young People 
in Leicestershire’s Care”  http://ow.ly/teZb30hoxSP  
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 

 
38. An Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening has 

been completed and approved by the chair of the Departmental Equalities Group.  
The screening assessment has determined that a full EHRIA is not necessary, as 
this is a minor proposed change to an existing policy that does not pose any 
human rights or equalities implications.  

75

http://ow.ly/teZb30hoxSP


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

CABINET – 9 JANUARY 2018 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE TRANSPORT POLICY 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of the report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval of the revised Adult 

Social Care Transport Policy 2018, which has been updated to reflect legislative 
changes and updated practice in the Adults and Communities Department. The 
Policy sets out circumstances in which adult social care service users are entitled to 
receive transport costs from the County Council. Service users will not be affected by 
the changes.  

 
Recommendations 
 
2 It is recommended that the revised Adult Social Care Transport Policy, attached at 

Appendix A to this report, be approved. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3 It has been necessary to revise the Adult Social Care Transport Policy in order to 

reflect changes in legislation; it remains broadly similar to the existing Policy.  The 
amendments will also ensure that any revisions to operational guidance are aligned 
to an up-to-date Policy and corresponding legislation.  As the changes will not have a 
significant effect on service users there is no requirement for formal consultation. 
(Note: this is separate from the Council’s School Transport Policy which affects a 
different group of service users and will be the subject of a future report to the 
Cabinet following recent consultation). 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4 Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, it is intended that the updated Policy will be 

implemented with immediate effect, along with accompanying staff guidance. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5 The existing Adult Social Care Transport Policy was approved by the Cabinet in July 

2010. 
 

77 Agenda Item 7



 

6 The Care Act 2014 was implemented in April 2015 and replaced the NHS and 
Community Care Act 1990 and other legislation which directed duties on local 
authorities around the provision of service and support within adult social care. 

 
Resources Implications 
 
7 There are no resources implications arising from the recommendations in this report.  

The social care transport budget is a centralised joint budget for Children and Family 
Services and the Adults and Communities Department (the budget is held and 
managed by the Environment and Transport Department).  It contains all transport 
spend where the County Council has arranged fleet (minibus), voluntary and 
community sector transport and taxi provision (Direct Payment spend or worker 
mileage to transport individuals is contained within departmental budgets). 
 

8 The budget outturn for social care transport in 2016/17 was £3.3m.  For the last 
seven years approximately 80% of the social care transport expenditure has 
consistently related to adult social care journeys. During the same period, the level of 
spend for adult social care has remained relatively constant; this demonstrates that 
the change in legislation in 2015 has not had a material impact on spend. 

 
9 The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance have 

been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email:  jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
Heather Pick, Assistant Director 
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305 7456 
Email:  heather.pick@leics.gov.uk 

78



 

PART B 
Background 
 
10 The purpose of the Adult Social Care Transport Policy is to set out the circumstances 

in which adult social care service users are entitled to receive transport services from 
the County Council.  It ensures that transport is provided consistently and fairly to 
people who meet the national eligibility criteria for social care and support. The Policy 
is applied by commissioning workers in the Adults and Communities Department as 
part of the wider social care needs assessment and support planning activity with a 
service user. The Environment and Transport Department arranges transport for 
eligible service users as dictated and requested by the Adults and Communities 
Department. 
 

11 The Council is required to consult with stakeholders on any proposed policy changes 
that will affect service users significantly. However, the proposed new Policy does not 
describe a major change in the Council’s approach, but rather seeks to clarify 
existing practices and ensure that these are compliant with its duties under the Care 
Act 2014. 

 
12 The new Policy therefore remains broadly similar to the current one and, for example, 

the eligibility for transport continues to be based on meeting an assessed social care 
need (the threshold for transport has not changed), individuals are advised and 
supported to promote their independence and, where an individual has no other 
means of travelling, transport will be provided.  The changes made to the Policy will 
not affect service users and formal consultation is not therefore required in this 
instance.  

 
13 The need to update the Policy was identified following the introduction of some 

internal process improvements to the adult social care transport process; it was not 
possible to update internal operational guidance without referencing the latest 
legislation (which needed to be correctly reflected in Policy). Improvements have 
been aimed at ensuring operational staff within the Adults and Communities and 
Environment and Transport Departments have a clear understanding of their roles 
and responsibilities in the setting up and cancelling of transport journeys with the 
primary objective of ensuring transport journeys (e.g. taxis, fleet buses and voluntary 
sector transport) are planned as efficiently as possible, available spaces on vehicles 
are maximised based on well communicated information between departments, and 
people are charged correctly for the transport they receive.   
 

14 It must be noted that these improvements do not effect who is eligible for transport 
and therefore those currently receiving social care transport will not have their 
arrangements reviewed as a result of this policy amendment.  New internal 
operational guidance will be launched to reflect the revised Policy and legislation. 

 
15 There are approximately 600 adult social care service users that have planned 

transport journeys through the County Council at any given time with additional 
unplanned one-off journeys set up for other individuals where they are at risk and 
need to be transported for safeguarding or emergency respite reasons.  

 
 
 
 

79



 

Proposed changes 
 

16 Prior to April 2015, the County Council maintained an eligibility threshold for social 
care services set at substantial needs, meaning that support was provided to people 
with substantial or critical needs.  These eligibility arrangements changed with the 
implementation of the Care Act in April 2015. This new legislation for adult social 
care introduced a national minimum eligibility threshold which had to be adopted by 
all local authorities. The Government’s intention was to ensure that the new threshold 
enables local authorities to maintain their previous levels of access to care and 
support, by setting it at a level that equates to the substantial threshold already used 
by most authorities. Therefore, although the eligibility criteria for social care now falls 
under a new legal framework, people receiving social care services at present 
(including transport to meet social care needs) are already assessed as the most 
vulnerable adults in Leicestershire and will therefore not see a reduction in service as 
a result of this policy change. 

17 This revised Policy change is not linked in any way to the School Transport Policy 
proposals which were the subject of consultation between the 25 September and 21 
December 2017 and does not affect the same group of individuals. 

 
Background Papers 
 

 Report to the Cabinet: 27 July 2010 – Adult Social Care Transport Policy 
 http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=2909&Ver=4 

 Care Act 2014 
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/Acts/lAct/2013-2014/0001/lAct_2013-20140001_en_1.htm 

 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – Revised Adult Social Care Transport Policy 2018 

 Appendix B – Equality and Human Rights Impact [EHRIA] screening assessment 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
18 An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment was carried out and concluded 

that the changes to the adult social care transport policy has no adverse impact on 
new and existing service users.  A copy of the EHRIA is attached to this report as 
Appendix B. 

80

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=2909&Ver=4
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/Acts/lAct/2013-2014/0001/lAct_2013-20140001_en_1.htm


 
ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENT 

TRANSPORT POLICY FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
January 2018  

 
1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to ensure that transport is provided consistently 
and fairly to people who meet the national eligibility criteria for social care and 
support. The purpose is also to ensure that Leicestershire’s operational 
practice is compliant with the duties under the Care Act 2014. 

 
1.2 The provision of adult social care is aimed at promoting the maximum 

possible independence for the service user. In extending this principle to the 
provision of transport, this policy sets the criteria that will be used to assess 
whether the service user’s transport need can be best met through 
independent travel arrangements, privately funded transport or whether 
Council arranged and funded transport assistance is necessary. 

 
1.3 This policy does not describe a major change in approach. Instead the policy 

aims to clarify existing practice in line with legal duties. 
 
2. Context 
 

2.1. Leicestershire County Council has over 600 service users receiving County 
Council adult social care transport. This costs the council almost £3 million 
each year.  

 
2.2. This policy should be viewed within the context of Leicestershire’s Adult 

Social Care Strategy 2016-2020 which is a key document that describes our 
vision and aspirations to help people to help themselves by using their own 
assets along with measures to reduce, delay, prevent, and meet need.  

 
2.3. This policy should additionally be read in conjunction with the Care Act 2014.  

 
3. Legal framework 

 
3.1. Adult Social Care has a legal duty to provide transport to service users who 

are eligible for social care support in certain circumstances.  
 

3.2. The Care Act 2014 sets out that duty as follows:  
 
‘The national eligibility criteria set a minimum threshold for adult care and 
support needs, and carer support needs, which local authorities must meet. 
All local authorities must comply with this national threshold.’  

 
3.3. The Act details that:  

 
‘Local authorities should consider the adult’s ability to get around in the 
community safely and consider their ability to use such facilities as public 

Appendix A  
81



 
transport, shops, or recreational facilities when considering the impact on 
their wellbeing.’  

 
4. Scope 

 
4.1. This policy applies to all adults over the age of 18 who are ordinarily resident 

in Leicestershire and eligible for social care support. 
 

4.2. Where people attend full time education and require transport the 
responsibility to assess the need for this is with the Children and Families 
Service and therefore not part of the scope of this policy. 

 
5. Policy Statement 
 

5.1 This Policy is based on the assumption that service users will travel 
independently except where an assessment shows that this is not possible. 
 

5.2 Transport is only provided to people who meet the Care Act’s eligibility 
criteria. 

 
5.3 Transport will only be provided where the need for this is clearly identified and 

documented within the individual’s assessment and support plan. 
 
5.4 The decision to provide assistance with transport will follow consideration of 

the existing (non-Council funded) transport options that are available. These 
include using a bus pass, utilising DLA/PIP payments and utilising Motability 
vehicles. 

 
5.5 An assessment of the risks associated with using non Council funded 

transport and a person’s mobility will be part of the support planning process.  
 
5.6 Where a person receives a benefit to facilitate their mobility (such as DLA/PIP 

mobility component) this should be fully utilised to support their transport 
needs to and from community activities. 

 
5.7 Where a person has a private vehicle (including a Motability vehicle) it will be 

expected that this is used to access community activities, where possible. 
 
5.8 Exceptional circumstances may arise which would merit the Department 

funding exceptional assisted transport. 
 
5.9 Transport risk assessments must be reviewed regularly to ensure the ongoing 

safety of the person travelling. 
 
5.10 Where an individual is provided with a Personal Budget or requests a Direct 

Payment to meet their assessed needs for care, the same principles will apply 
as to those people opting to receive support directly from Adult Social Care. 
The cost of transport will only be included in the Personal Budget or Direct 

82



 
Payment where no other suitable alternative is available and it is considered 
that the service user is eligible for this support.  

 
5.11 The provision of Council funded transport is subject to a charge under the 

Council’s ‘Charging Policy’.  
 

6 Implementation  

6.1. This policy will be applied from December 2017 and will remain in place until 
there is a need to review, for example following a change in legislation.  
 

6.2. It will be applied to any new adult social care service user. 
 

6.3. It is not currently intended to retrospectively apply this policy to any service 
users in receipt of transport prior to the policy implementation date stipulated. 
The Council will review existing people’s transport arrangements at the time 
of their usual review and implement this policy at that time. 

  
7 Monitoring and review  
 

7.1. Travel arrangements and any impacts this policy has had on the ability of 
vulnerable people to access appropriate services to meet their eligible social 
care needs, will be considered by assessing officers at a review or 
reassessment of the individual’s needs.  

 
7.2. An individual or their authorised representative can request a review of their 

social care assessment if at any time they consider their needs have 
substantially changed. 

 
7.3. At any time in this process the individual or their representative can make a 

complaint under the Council’s Complaints Procedure.  
 
8 Complaints  

 
8.1. Leicestershire welcomes and responds positively to all comments, 

compliments, and complaints, as a means of demonstrating its commitment 
to working in partnership with individuals and carers.  

  
8.2. More information is available from: https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-

the-council/contact-us/complaints  
 
Contact Details 
 

 

Telephone 0116 232 3232  
Email: complaints@leics.gov.uk  
Address: Leicestershire County Council 

FREEPOST LE1779 
County Hall 
Glenfield 

83

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us/complaints
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us/complaints
mailto:complaints@leics.gov.uk


 
Leicester 
LE3 8XR  

 
Document Control 
 
Owner: 

  
 

 
Author: 

 
Mandy Ewart 

 
Date:  

 
Approved by: 

 
DMT 

 
Date:  

 
Reviewed by 
Revised by 
 

 
 

 
Date:  
 

 
Due to be reviewed:  

 
Date:  

 

84



1 
 

 

Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
 

This Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will enable you to 
assess the new, proposed or significantly changed policy/ practice/ procedure/ 
function/ service** for equality and human rights implications.  
 
Undertaking this assessment will help you to identify whether or not this policy/ 
practice/ procedure/ function/ service** may have an adverse impact on a particular 
community or group of people. It will ultimately ensure that, as an Authority, we do 
not discriminate and we are able to promote equality, diversity and human rights.  
 
Please refer to the EHRIA guidance before completing this form. If you need any 
further information about undertaking and completing the assessment, contact your 
Departmental Equalities Group or equality@leics.gov.uk  
 
**Please note: The term ‘policy’ will be used throughout this assessment as 
shorthand for policy, practice, procedure, function or service. 
 

 

Key Details 
 

Name of policy being assessed: 
 
 
 

Adult Social Care Transport Policy 

Department and section: 
 
 
 

Adults and Communities 

Name of lead officer/ job title and 
others completing this assessment: 

 
 

Katy Lynch (Senior Project Manager) and 
Mandy Ewart (Lead Practitioner) 

Contact telephone numbers: 
 
 
 

0116 3059133 

Name of officer/s responsible for 
implementing this policy: 

 
 

Mandy Ewart (Lead Practitioner) and Tony Kirk 
(Head of Transport Operations) 

Date EHRIA assessment started: 
 
 
 

1st August 2017 

Date EHRIA assessment completed: 
 

 

1st December 2018 

 

Appendix B  85

http://corpedrmsapp:8087/Intranet%20File%20Plan/Human%20Resources/Equal%20Opportunities/Equalities%20and%20Diversity/ehria_toolkit.doc
https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Equality-groups.aspx
mailto:equality@leics.gov.uk


2 
 

Section 1: Defining the policy 
 

 
Section 1: Defining the policy  
You should begin this assessment by defining and outlining the scope of the policy. 
You should consider the impact or likely impact of the policy in relation to all areas of 
equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in Leicestershire County Council’s 
Equality Strategy. 
 

 

1 What is new or changed in the policy? What has changed and why? 
 
The existing Adult Social Care Transport Policy was approved by Members in 2010; 
the legislative framework has since changed with the introduction of the Care Act 
2014.  
 
The previous policy contained elements of operational guidance, and feedback from 
staff applying the policy was that they were often left confused regarding eligibility 
and how to request and subsequently cancel transport – leaving scope for individual 
interpretation and inconsistency. The Policy has therefore been updated to ensure 
this specifically describes eligibility, with more detailed guidance in a separate 
operational document to clarify the process around requesting and cancelling 
transport (including what the roles and responsibilities are between different 
departments so that customers receive an improved experience and waste is 
removed through the timely sharing of information). 
 
Eligibility criteria for Care and Support (transport is considered a form of support) has 
changed; under the Care Act eligibility criteria the adult must be unable to achieve 
two or more outcomes and as a consequence of their disability, satisfy the local 
authority that there would be a significant impact on the adult’s wellbeing if transport 
was not provided.  

 
The new policy is considerably shorter due to the direct correlation with national 
eligibility criteria instead of local discretion.    
 
The aims of the new and existing policy are broadly similar, for example, the eligibility 
for transport is based up on need, people are supported to utilise their informal 
networks, such as family, friends and carers, access community transport links, 
access buses. They can be offered Travel Training to promote their independence 
and support them in accessing their local communities.  Adult social care transport is 
only provided when people have no other means of travelling.  

2 Does this relate to any other policy within your department, the Council or with 

other partner organisations? If yes, please reference the relevant policy or EHRIA. 

If unknown, further investigation may be required. 

National Eligibility Criteria 

3 Who are the people/ groups (target groups) affected and what is the intended 
change or outcome for them?  
 
There are approximately 600 adult social care service users that have future journeys 
planned and arranged by LCC (numbers have been stable over the last couple of 
years), with a further proportion of social care service users receiving urgent one-off 
transport for safeguarding or emergency respite reasons. A large proportion of 

86

https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Equality-Strategy.aspx


3 
 

individuals receiving transport have a learning disability and are receiving a service 
from the Community Life Choices framework, with the remainder of service users 
consisting of older people and people with physical disabilities. It must be noted that 
most adult social care service users already arrange their own transport and therefore 
those accessing the LCC arranged transport are those most in need, in line with the 
eligibility criteria as set by The Care Act 2014. These individuals will be due to receive 
an annual review as part of their wider Care and Support from LCC; these reviews 
will not result in transport being removed where it is assessed as supporting an 
unmet need, any decision to cease or change transport arrangements will be 
following a review and agreed jointly with the person as part of one to one support 
planning to ensure that the level support given is appropriate and safe for the person 
(this is in line with other care and support services). 
 
Eligibility criteria will be applied and a support plan developed with the person before 
any transport is requested, and as part of a review before transport is cancelled (as is 
the case now). Therefore, this policy will continue to support the most vulnerable 
adults in Leicestershire to access services in a fair and consistent way, in line with 
The Care Act 2014.  

4 Will the policy meet the Equality Act 2010 requirements to have due regard to 
the need to meet any of the following aspects? (Please tick and explain how) 

 Yes No How? 

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, 
harassment and 
victimisation 

 
 
x 
 
 

 Consistent approach to determining eligibility 
based on the national eligibility criteria set 
out in legislation under the Care Act 2014. 

Advance equality 
of opportunity 
between different 
groups 

x 
 
 
 
 

 Using the Care Act eligibility criteria to 
determine if transport needs to be provided 
will ensure that people with protected 
characteristics are not disadvantaged, 
furthermore, when assessing eligibility for 
transport the new policy will support staff to 
consider how best to offer advice and 
information to people to prevent reduce and 
delay need with regard to transport. Where 
unmet needs remain, then meet support 
needs with adult social care transport. This 
will ensure that those adults with social care 
needs are appropriately and proportionately 
supported ensuring those people who are 
most vulnerable and in need of care and 
support, will have access to essential 
community services. 
 

Foster good 
relations between 
different groups 

x 
 
 
 

 Any transport provided to adult social care 
service users will be done so with due 
regard to the following: 
 
Personal security – transport arrangements 
will be risk assessed 
 
Interactions with others - support positive 
and diverse interactions between different 
individuals/groups, particularly as some 
service users are required to share transport 
with other passengers 

87



4 
 

 
Participation and influence – the need for 
transport will be identified and planned for in 
conjunction with the individual leading the 
support planning process where they have 
capacity to do so, ensuring their voices are 
heard and inform necessary transport 
arrangements /decisions. 
 

 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights     
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Screening 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening 
The purpose of this section of the assessment is to help you decide if a full EHRIA is 
required.  
 
If you have already identified that a full EHRIA is needed for a policy/ practice/ 
procedure/ function/ service, either via service planning processes or other means, then 
please go straight to Section 3 on Page 7 of this document.  

 

Section 2  
A: Research and Consultation  

5. Have the target groups been consulted about the 
following?  
 

a) their current needs and aspirations and what is 
important to them; 
 

b) any potential impact of this change on them 
(positive and negative, intended and unintended); 

 
c) potential barriers they may face 

 

Yes No* 

 
x 
 

 

 
x 

 

 
 

 
x 
 

 

6. If the target groups have not been consulted directly, 
have representatives been consulted or research 
explored (e.g. Equality Mapping)? 
 

 
n/a 

 
 

7. Have other stakeholder groups/ secondary groups (e.g. 
carers of service users) been explored in terms of 
potential unintended impacts? 
 

 
X 

 

8. *If you answered 'no' to the questions above, please use the space below to 
outline either what consultation you are planning to undertake or why you do not 
consider it to be necessary. 
 
 

 

 

88



5 
 

Section 2 
B: Monitoring Impact 

9. Are there systems set up to: 
 

a) monitor impact (positive and negative, intended 
and unintended) for different groups; 
 

b) enable open feedback and suggestions from 
different communities 

Yes No 

X  

x 
 
 

 

Note: If no to Question 9, you will need to ensure that monitoring systems are 
established to check for impact on the protected characteristics. 

Section 2 
C: Potential Impact 

10.  
Use the table below to specify if any individuals or community groups who identify 
with any of the ‘protected characteristics’ may potentially be affected by the 
policy and describe any positive and negative impacts, including any barriers.   
 

 Yes No Comments 
 
 

Age 
 
 

X  Positive impact – the transport 
policy continues to protect the 

most vulnerable adults in society 
ensuring any eligible care and 
support needs are met through 

enabling access to the 
community facilities where 
required and that they are 

safeguarded from any risk to 
their wellbeing through 

transporting individuals to a 
place of safety where this is 

needed.   

Disability 
 

 

X  As above 

Gender Reassignment 
 

  

 X  

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

 

 X  

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 

 

 X  

Race 
 

 

 X  

Religion or Belief 
 

 X  

89

https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Protected-characteristics.aspx


6 
 

 

Sex 
 

 

 X  

Sexual Orientation 
 

   

 X  

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, 
deprivation, health 

inequality, carers, asylum 
seeker and refugee 

communities, looked after 
children, deprived or 

disadvantaged 
communities 

 
x 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 As above. Adults with eligible 
care and support needs will be 
financially assessed in line with 
the Care Act to determine how 

much they can afford to 
contribute towards the cost of 
any transport needed (in line 
with other care and support 

services) 

 Community Cohesion 
 

 X  

11.  
Are the human rights of individuals potentially affected by this proposal? Could 
there be an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
(Please tick) 
 
Explain why you consider that any particular article in the Human Rights Act may 
apply to the policy/ practice/ function or procedure and how the human rights of 
individuals are likely to be affected below: [NB: include positive and negative 
impacts as well as barriers in benefiting from the above proposal] 
 

 Yes No Comments 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms  
 

Article 2: Right to life   X  

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 X  

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 X  

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 X  

Article 6: Right to a fair trial   X  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 X  

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 X  

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 

 X  

90

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


7 
 

religion  

Article 10: Right to freedom 
of expression 

 X  

Article 11: Right to freedom 
of assembly and association  

 X  

Article 12: Right to marry  X  

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 X  

 
Part 2: The First Protocol  
 

Article 1: Protection of 
property/ peaceful 
enjoyment  

 X  

Article 2: Right to education  
  

 X  

Article 3: Right to free 
elections  

 X  

Section 2 
D: Decision 

13. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is there evidence or any other reason to 
suggest that: 
 

a) the policy could have a different 
affect or adverse impact on any 
section of the community; 
 

b) any section of the community may 
face barriers in benefiting from the 
proposal 

Yes 
 

No 
 

Unknown 

 
 
 
 

X  

 X  

13. 
 

Based on the answers to the questions above, what is the likely impact of the 
policy 
 

  
No Impact  

 
Positive Impact 

 
Neutral Impact 

 
Negative Impact or 
Impact Unknown 

 
Note: If the decision is ‘Negative Impact’ or ‘Impact Not Known’, an EHRIA Report 
is required. 

14. 
 
 

Is an EHRIA report required? 
 

 
       Yes 

 
            No 

 

 

 
Section 2: Completion of EHRIA Screening  
 
Upon completion of the screening section of this assessment, you should have identified 
whether an EHRIA Report is requried for further investigation of the impacts of this 
policy.  

 x
x 

  

x  

91



8 
 

 
Option 1: If you identified that an EHRIA Report is required, continue to Section 3 on 
Page 7 of this document.     
 
Option 2: If there are no equality, diversity or human rights impacts identified and an 
EHRIA report is not required, continue to Section 4 on Page 14 of this document.   

 
 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Report 

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Report 
 
This part of the assessment will help you to think thoroughly about the impact of the 
policy and to critically examine whether it is likely to have a positive or negative impact 
on different groups within our diverse communities. It should also identify any barriers 
that may adversely affect under-represented communities or groups that may be 
disadvantaged by the way in which we carry out our business. 
 
Using the information gathered either within the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, this EHRIA Report should be used to consider the impact or likely impact 
of the policy in relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in 
Leicestershire County Council’s Equality Strategy. 
 

 

Section 3 
A: Research and Consultation  

When considering the target groups, it is important to think about whether new data 
needs to be collected or whether there is any existing research that can be utilised. 
 

15. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you now explored the following and what does this 
information/ data tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

a) current needs and aspirations and what is important to individuals and 
community groups (including human rights); 
 

b) likely impacts (positive and negative, intended and unintended) to 
individuals and community groups (including human rights); 

 
c) likely barriers that individuals and community groups may face (including 

human rights) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

92



9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16. Is any further research, data collection or evidence required to fill any gaps in your 
understanding of the potential or known affects of the policy on target groups?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

When considering who is affected by this proposed policy, it is important to think 
about consulting with and involving a range of service users, staff or other 
stakeholders who may be affected as part of the proposal. 
 

17. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you further consulted with those affected on the likely 
impact and what does this consultation tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18. Is any further consultation required to fill any gaps in your understanding of the 
potential or known effects of the policy on target groups?  
 

  
 
 
 
 

93



10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Section 3  
B: Recognised Impact 

19. Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
individuals or community groups who identify with any ‘protected characteristics’ 
are likely to be affected by this policy. Describe any positive and negative 
impacts, including what barriers these individuals or groups may face. 
 

 Comments 
 

Age 
 
 

 

Disability 
 
 

 

Gender Reassignment 
 
 
 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 

 

Race 
 
 

 

Religion or Belief 
 
 

 

Sex 
 
 

 

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, 

health inequality, carers, 
asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, looked after 

 

94



11 
 

children, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities 

 
 

 Community Cohesion 
 
 

 

 
 

20.  
Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
particular Articles in the Human Rights Act are likely to apply to the policy. Are 
the human rights of any individuals or community groups affected by this 
proposal? Is there an impact on human rights for any of the protected 
characteristics? 
 

 Comments 
 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms 
  

Article 2: Right to life  
 

 

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  
 

  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion 

 

Article 10: Right to freedom of 
expression 

 

Article 11: Right to freedom of 
assembly and association  

 

Article 12: Right to marry 
 

 

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 

 
Part 2: The First Protocol 
 

95



12 
 

Article 1: Protection of property/ 
peaceful enjoyment  
 

 

Article 2: Right to education 
   
 

 

Article 3: Right to free elections  
 

 

96



13 
 

 

Section 3  
C: Mitigating and Assessing the Impact  

Taking into account the research, data, consultation and information you have reviewed 
and/ or carried out as part of this EHRIA, it is now essential to assess the impact of the 
policy. 
 

21. If you consider there to be actual or potential adverse impact or discrimination, 
please outline this below. State whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give 
reasons. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NB:  
 
i) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal, you are required 
to take action to remedy this immediately.  
 
ii) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or 
legitimate, you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect on 
those groups of people. 
 

22. Where there are potential barriers, negative impacts identified and/ or barriers or 
impacts are unknown, please outline how you propose to minimise all negative 
impact or discrimination. 
 

a) include any relevant research and consultation findings which highlight the 
best way in which to minimise negative impact or discrimination 
 

b) consider what barriers you can remove, whether reasonable adjustments 
may be necessary and how any unmet needs that you have identified can 
be addressed 
 

c) if you are not addressing any negative impacts (including human rights) or 
potential barriers identified for a particular group, please explain why 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

97



14 
 

Section 3 
D: Making a decision    

23. Summarise your findings and give an overview as to whether the policy will meet 
Leicestershire County Council’s responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity, 
community cohesion and human rights. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Section 3 
E: Monitoring, evaluation & review of the policy  

24. Are there processes in place to review the findings of this EHRIA and make 
appropriate changes? In particular, how will you monitor potential barriers and any 
positive/ negative impact? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25. How will the recommendations of this assessment be built into wider planning and 
review processes? 
e.g. policy reviews, annual plans and use of performance management systems 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  

98



15 
 

Section 3: 
F: Equality and human rights improvement plan  

 

 
Please list all the equality objectives, actions and targets that result from the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
(continue on separate sheets as necessary). These now need to be included in the relevant service plan for mainstreaming and 
performance management purposes. 
 

 
Equality Objective 

 
Action 

 
Target 

 
Officer Responsible 

 
By when 

 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

99



16 
 

 

Section 4: Sign off and scrutiny  
 
 

Upon completion, the Lead Officer completing this assessment is required to sign the 
document in the section below. 
 
It is required that this Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) is 
scrutinised by your Departmental Equalities Group and signed off by the Chair of the 
Group. 
 
Once scrutiny and sign off has taken place, a depersonalised version of this EHRIA 
should be published on Leicestershire County Council’s website. Please send a copy of 
this form to the Digital Services Team via web@leics.gov.uk for publishing. 

 

Section 4 
A: Sign Off and Scrutiny 

 
Confirm, as appropriate, which elements of the EHRIA have been completed and are 
required for sign off and scrutiny. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Screening 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Report 
 

 
1st Authorised Signature (EHRIA Lead Officer): ……………………………………………… 
 
Date: …………………………. 
  
 

 
2nd Authorised Signature (DEG Chair): ………………………………………………………. 
 
Date: …………………………… 
 
 

 
 
 

x 

 

100

mailto:web@leics.gov.uk


 
 

CABINET – 9th JANUARY 2018 
 

SUICIDE PREVENTION – STRATEGY WORK AND STOP SUICIDE 
CAMPAIGN AND PLEDGE 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the current strategic 

approach of the County Council and its partners to prevent suicide, and to seek 
approval to develop a broader STOP Suicide Campaign and pledge as has 
been adopted in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire to help reduce deaths from 
suicide across the County. 

  
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that: 

 
(a) The existing work and initiatives undertaken by the County Council and 

its partners in line with its Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan 
be noted; 

 
(b) The development of a STOP Suicide Campaign and Pledge similar to 

that operated in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire, be approved. 
 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. The National Suicide Prevention Strategy for England calls for upper tier local 

authorities to lead the development and implementation of a local response to 
the national strategy as part of their public health responsibilities. 

 
4. Around 60 deaths a year in Leicestershire are from suicide, making it a 

significant cause of death, particularly amongst younger people. 
 
5. Suicides are not inevitable and are often the end point of a complex history of 

risk factors and distressing events. The prevention of suicide has to address 
this complexity through concerted action and collaboration amongst services, 
communities, individuals and across society as a whole. 

 
6. The existing Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and 

Prevention Group leads on and co-ordinates strategies and actions to reduce 
the risks and burden of suicide locally.  The approach of the STOP campaign in 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire, if replicated in Leicestershire, would add 
significant extra delivery and profile to the existing work the Authority 
undertakes. 

101 Agenda Item 8



 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
7. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, it is intended that progress be made on a 

project plan, partner engagement and delivery of the STOP campaign in 2018.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. The National Suicide Prevention Strategy for England was published in 2012 

and was refreshed in January 2017. This highlighted a number of key areas for 
action as set out below: 
 
• Reducing the risk of suicide in high risk groups; 
• Tailoring approaches to improve mental health in specific groups; 
• Reducing access to means of suicide; 
• Providing better information and support to those bereaved or affected by 

suicide; 
• Supporting the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and 

suicidal behaviour; 
• Supporting research, data collection and monitoring; and 
• Reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk. 
 

9. Following the transition of Public Health back into local government, suicide 
prevention became a local authority led initiative working closely with the police, 
clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), NHS England, coroners and the 
voluntary sectors. 

 
10. The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017-2019 requires 

local areas to reduce suicide rates by 10% against the 2016/17 baseline. 
 

11. The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2017-20) includes a key 
outcome on giving equal priority to mental health and wellbeing and access to 
the right support for mental health issues across the life course. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
12. The existing work of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit 

and Prevention Group is resourced from within partner organisations budgets.  
This includes an element of the Public Health Grant spend on mental health 
and mental health promotion. Initial development and delivery of the STOP 
campaign and the employment of a part time member of staff by the Authority 
to work on this will be met through existing resources from within Public Health.  
Further development and expansion of the Campaign would require additional 
resources of around £100,000. To support this, funding bids to the Department 
of Health will be made where possible and appropriate, and partner 
contributions will be sought. 

 
13. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14. None. 
 
 
 

102



 
 
 
 
Officers to contact 
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health 
Tel: 0116 305 4239 email: Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mike McHugh, Consultant in Public Health 
Tel: 0116 305 4236 email: Mike.McHugh@leics.gov.uk 

 
 

103

mailto:Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Mike.McHugh@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background 
 
15. Suicide is a devastating and tragic event which, though comparatively rare, 

affects a large number of people each time it occurs, sending ripples through 
families and communities. 

 
16. Between 2001 and 2008 suicide rates in England had been steadily falling, but 

there has been a small upward trend since 2008. The most recent local rate for 
2013-15 was 9.3 suicides per 100,000 population which roughly equates to 60 
people per year across Leicestershire. 

 
17. Around three quarters of all suicides occur in men, but rates are rising in 

women. It remains the biggest killer of men under 50 and the leading cause of 
death in people aged 15–24.  

 
18. Specific groups at increased risk of suicide include: looked after children, care 

leavers and offenders; survivors of abuse or violence, including sexual abuse; 
veterans; people living with long-term physical health conditions; lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender people; and people from black and minority ethnic 
groups and asylum seekers. 
 

Current approach 
 
19. Leicestershire County Council plays a leading role in the Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (LLR SAPG).  
This Group exists to bring together key partners across the health and care 
systems with the purpose of tackling the causes and effects of suicide locally. 

 
20. The LLR SAPG reports to the Unified Prevention Board of the Leicestershire 

Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and the corresponding HWBBs in 
Leicester City and Rutland. 

 
21. The Group work to a Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan (attached as 

an appendix to this report) which sets out a number of intended key outcomes.  
These include: 

 

 Promote better mental health in LLR 

 Support people bereaved by suicide 

 Offer suicide prevention training 

 Prevent suicide in care settings 

 Raise awareness of suicide prevention through use of improved data 

 Support people in prison and in contact with the criminal justice system 

 Protect people with a history of self-harm 

 Target support at key high risk groups 
 
22. Initiatives as part of the above Group, led by Public Health and the Samaritans 

and involving  other partners from local schools, universities, prisons, Youth 
Offending Teams and Victim First, raise awareness of suicide, tackling risks, 
and highlighting support for people who are struggling. This work has included: 
 

 Specific joint working and support for people bereaved by suicide working 
with the LLR Suicide of Bereavement by Suicide (SOBS) Group. 

104



 Working with local coroners offices to learn lessons from suicides and to 
support those who have been bereaved by suicide. 

 Close working with local CCGs to support their management of Serious 
Incidents involving suicides in patients. 

 Co-development of ‘Stay Alive’: Grassroots Suicide Prevention App with 
the Leicestershire Partnership Trust.  

 
23. The Group has also delivered suicide prevention awareness events within the 

County Council as part of International Men’s Day, and wider work on health, 
wellbeing and resilience in the workplace and across Leicestershire, as part of 
the World Suicide Prevention Day event. It has also organised wider mental 
health awareness events and activities such as the Leicestershire Mental 
Health First Aid (MHFA) Training programme which was aimed at front line staff 
on a multi-partnership basis and the ‘RU OK today?’ events to mark World 
Mental Health Week which involves reaching out to those members of the 
public who would not normally think that mental health issues affect them.  

 
The Peterborough and Cambridgeshire ‘STOP Suicide’ Campaign and Pledge 
 
24. Leicestershire is better placed than a lot of authorities in having a strategy and 

action plan in place, and is delivering some notable success in joint working 
and initiatives. However, more could be achieved if it followed the lead shown 
by the Peterborough and Cambridgeshire STOP suicide campaign and pledge. 

 
25. STOP is a suicide prevention campaign/programme which reaches across 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. It started in 2014 as one of four different 
NHS England-funded pilot campaigns across the East of England and is now 
continuing via other funding streams, led by the charities Cambridgeshire, 
Peterborough and South Lincolnshire Mind (CPSL Mind) and Lifecraft, and 
supported by local NHS and Public Health teams. 

 
26. It seeks to alert communities across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough to the 

warning signs of suicidal behaviour and reassure them that an open and honest 
approach to suicide is the best way to prevention. The Campaign also aims to 
challenge the stigma and myths around suicide and the high profile media 
campaign is crucial to achieving this. Overall, the campaign hopes to achieve a 
‘Suicide Safer Community’. 

 
27. The concept of “building a Suicide Safer Community” was first introduced by 

LivingWorks (a public service corporation aimed at improving understanding 
and preventing suicide in Canada), who developed an internationally renowned 
ASIST programme (Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training).  A Suicide 
Safer Community is “one built on honesty, where conversations about suicide 
are encouraged and will be met with compassionate, non-judging and informed 
responses”. 

 
28.  STOP is delivered across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire by and through: 

 
• Three part time staff working to support delivery of the programme. 
• A website containing materials, resources and information to help 

increase awareness of mental health, wellbeing, and suicide risk which 
include posters, leaflets, digital applications (Apps), and broader 
signposting. 

• Specific support for people who are struggling with mental illness 
and/or suicidal ideas, including counselling and crisis support (via 111). 

105



• Specific crisis support - ‘Help Now’ Helplines.  The NHS First 
Response Service (FRS) across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
provides 24-hour access, seven days a week, 365 days a year, to 
mental health care, advice, support and treatment.  By calling 111 and 
selecting option 2, patients will be put through to a member of the FRS 
who will speak to people and discuss their current mental health needs. 

• Apps - Crisis Card Smartphone App and the Stay Alive App. 
• Specific support for high risk groups e.g. LGBT Mental Health. 

 
29. Additionally, individuals and organisations can get involved in the Campaign by: 

 
• Signing up to the organisational and/or individual pledge in person or 

through the website and encouraging others to do so. 
• Downloading the free resources, or picking them up in person, 

including self-help leaflets giving guidance for those at risk, or those 
who want to help. 

• Wearing the “I’d Ask” badge. 
• Embedding the STOP Suicide email tag alongside email signatures.  
• Becoming a Campaign Maker and distributing resources within 

communities, either by social media or by placing leaflets, posters and 
badges in key community buildings. 

 
Next Steps 
 
30. The current local approach in comparison with STOP shows that there are gaps 

in relation to: 
 

• No dedicated staff working exclusively on suicide prevention in 
Leicestershire. 

• No website/single repository for work on suicide prevention across the 
County or Leicester City and Rutland. 

• No clear ‘branding’ around mental health and wellbeing or for suicide 
prevention across the local area e.g. no pledge. 

• Limited dedicated funding to invest in suicide prevention initiatives. 
• Limited voluntary sector involvement in specific suicide prevention 

initiatives apart from the Samaritans. 
• Limited suicide awareness training – whilst some is available this could 

be developed further. 
• Limited crisis support – whilst this exists it could be strengthened to 

mimic ‘Stop Suicide’ using the 111 service and suicide prevention/crisis 
apps. 

 
31. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, the Leicestershire Public Health programme 

will be further developed, subject to resources, in line with that of the STOP 
campaign to fill the above gaps identified. 

 
32. Within Public Health, by re-profiling the structure of the Department and the 

spend of the Public Health Grant on mental health promotion, it will be possible 
to dedicate a part time member of staff  to lead this work and develop a web-
site approach and pledge similar to STOP, for Leicestershire. In addition 
partner engagement will continue with a view to expanding the current scope of 
work and broaden the STOP campaign across Leicestershire, Leicester City 
and Rutland.  

 
 

106



33. The NHS nationally have announced a bidding round for money to deliver 
enhanced activity on suicide prevention. The existing work, and the intention to 
develop a STOP programme, leaves Leicestershire well placed to bid for this 
money which would enable the other identified gaps to be filled. 

 
Appendix  
 
LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan (2017-20) 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
Suicide disproportionately impacts on socially excluded groups and overall 
approaches to suicide prevention must ensure that this health inequality is targeted 
and addressed. 
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
Tackling suicide requires concerted action and collaboration amongst services, 
communities, individuals and across society. 
 
 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 2017.
	4 Early Help Review.
	Appendix 1 - Buildings Location Map
	Appendix 2 - EHRIA Screening Doc - Early Help Review v0.6doc

	5 2018/19 and 2019/20 School Funding Formula.
	Appendix - School Funding Formula

	6 In - House Fostering Fees Review.
	7 Adult Social Care Transport Policy.
	Appendix A - Adult Social Care Transport Policy
	Appendix B - Adult Social Care Transport Policy EHRIA

	8 Suicide Prevention - Strategy Work and Stop Suicide Campaign and Pledge.
	Appendix


